DEAN FOODS CO Form 10-Q November 07, 2016 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

(Mark One)

 \circ Quarterly Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 For the Quarterly Period Ended September 30, 2016

or

"Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the Transition Period from the Commission File Number 001-12755

Dean Foods Company

(Exact name of the registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 75-2559681 (State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. employer incorporation or organization) identification no.) 2711 North Haskell Avenue, Suite 3400 Dallas, Texas 75204 (214) 303-3400

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of the registrant's principal executive offices)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes \circ No "Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T ($^{\circ}$ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes \circ No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer)", "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act (Check one):

Large accelerated filerý

Accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer "(Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company" Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.) Yes "No ý

As of November 2, 2016, the number of shares of the registrant's common stock outstanding was: 90,496,465. Common Stock, par value \$.01

Table of Contents

Table of Contents

		Page
Part I — Fina	ancial Information	
Item 2 — <u>M</u> Item 3 — Qı	Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk Controls and Procedures	3 29 40 41
Part II — Oth	ner Information	
Item 1A -Ri	egal Proceedings isk Factors xhibits	42 42 43
<u>Signatures</u>		44
2		

Table of Contents

Part I — Financial Information

Item 1. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

DEAN FOODS COMPANY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share data)

	September	December
	30, 2016	31, 2015
ASSETS		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$28,158	\$60,734
Receivables, net of allowances of \$11,622 and \$13,960	643,301	653,156
Income tax receivable	4,479	7,985
Inventories	261,644	253,326
Deferred income taxes	42,878	54,735
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	39,282	47,627
Total current assets	1,019,742	1,077,563
Property, plant and equipment, net	1,144,733	1,174,137
Goodwill	163,843	86,841
Identifiable intangible and other assets, net	216,899	150,236
Deferred income taxes	22,435	31,386
Total	\$2,567,652	\$2,520,163
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$681,361	\$741,988
Current portion of debt	1,067	1,493
Current portion of litigation settlements	_	18,414
Total current liabilities	682,428	761,895
Long-term debt, net	895,015	833,080
Deferred income taxes	132,857	106,820
Other long-term liabilities	267,463	272,864
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)		
Stockholders' equity:		
Preferred stock, none issued	_	_
Common stock, 90,442,000 and 91,428,274 shares issued and outstanding, with a par value	904	914
of \$0.01 per share	904	914
Additional paid-in capital	651,074	679,916
Retained earnings (Accumulated deficit)	21,061	(49,523)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(83,150)	(85,803)
Total stockholders' equity	589,889	545,504
Total	\$2,567,652	\$2,520,163

See Notes to unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Table of Contents

DEAN FOODS COMPANY CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share data)

	Three Months Ended		Nine Months Ended		
	September 30		September 3	30	
	2016	2015	2016	2015	
Net sales	\$1,964,601	\$2,033,693	\$5,692,217	\$6,099,16	1
Cost of sales	1,475,826	1,541,705	4,206,121	4,633,223	
Gross profit	488,775	491,988	1,486,096	1,465,938	
Operating costs and expenses:					
Selling and distribution	341,477	347,493	1,005,514	1,023,769	
General and administrative	90,840	84,916	262,605	259,635	
Amortization of intangibles	5,151	6,401	15,596	15,313	
Facility closing and reorganization costs, net	9,297	2,709	9,063	9,362	
Impairment of intangible assets				109,910	
Total operating costs and expenses	446,765	441,519	1,292,778	1,417,989	
Operating income	42,010	50,469	193,318	47,949	
Other (income) expense:					
Interest expense	16,564	17,003	50,270	50,505	
Loss on early retirement of long-term debt				43,609	
Other income, net	(1,178)	(964)	(4,385)	(1,704)
Total other expense	15,386	16,039	45,885	92,410	
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes	26,624	34,430	147,433	(44,461)
Income tax expense (benefit)	12,098	14,197	60,335	(17,562)
Income (loss) from continuing operations	14,526	20,233	87,098	(26,899)
Loss on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax				(89)
Net income (loss)	\$14,526	\$20,233	\$87,098	\$(26,988)
Average common shares:					
Basic	90,423,466	93,254,547	91,076,741	93,950,693	3
Diluted	90,965,375	93,816,178	91,694,838	93,950,693	3
Basic income (loss) per common share:					
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$0.16	\$0.22	\$0.96	\$(0.29)
Loss from discontinued operations				_	
Net income (loss)	\$0.16	\$0.22	\$0.96	\$(0.29)
Diluted income (loss) per common share:					
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$0.16	\$0.22	\$0.95	\$(0.29)
Loss from discontinued operations					
Net income (loss)	\$0.16	\$0.22	\$0.95	\$(0.29)
Cash dividends declared per common share	\$0.09	\$0.07	\$0.27	\$0.21	

See Notes to unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Table of Contents

DEAN FOODS COMPANY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(Unaudited)

(In thousands)

	Three Mo Ended Septemb		Nine Months Endo September 30			
	2016	2015	2016	2015		
Net income (loss)	\$14,526	\$20,233	\$87,098	\$(26,988)		
Other comprehensive income (loss):						
Cumulative translation adjustments	(521)	(808)	(1,576)	(1,169)		
Net change in fair value of derivative instruments, net of tax	_			(87)		
Pension and other postretirement liability adjustment, net of tax	1,194	1,435	4,229	4,409		
Other comprehensive income	673	627	2,653	3,153		
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$15,199	\$20,860	\$89,751	\$(23,835)		

See Notes to unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Table of Contents

DEAN FOODS COMPANY CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share data)

	Common Sto	ock			Retained		Accumulate	ed		
	Shares	Amoun	t Additional Paid-In Cap	pita	Earnings (Accumula	ate	Other Comprehen Income (Loss)	siv	Total Stockhold Equity	ers'
Balance, January 1, 2016	91,428,274	\$914	\$ 679,916		\$ (49,523)	\$ (85,803)	\$545,504	
Issuance of common stock, net of tax impact of share-based compensation	384,911	4	(1,962)	_		_		(1,958)
Share-based compensation expense		_	6,496		_		_		6,496	
Repurchase of common stock	(1,371,185)	(14)	(24,986)			_		(25,000)
Net income					87,098		_		87,098	
Dividends			(8,390)	(16,514)			(24,904)
Other comprehensive income (loss):										
Cumulative translation adjustment							(1,576)	(1,576)
Pension and other postretirement benef liability adjustment, net of tax of \$2,91		_	_		_		4,229		4,229	
Balance, September 30, 2016	90,442,000	\$ 904	\$ 651,074		\$ 21,061		\$ (83,150)	\$ 589,889	

See Notes to unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Table of Contents

DEAN FOODS COMPANY CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share data)

	Common St	ock			Retained		Accumulate	ed	Total	
	Shares	Amoun	t Additional Paid-In Cap	oita	Earnings (Accumula Deficit)	ate	Other dComprehen Income (Lo	siv ss)	Stockhold Equity	ers'
Balance, January 1, 2015	94,080,840	\$ 941	\$ 752,375		\$ (41,015)	\$ (84,983)	\$627,318	
Issuance of common stock, net of tax impact of share-based compensation	378,878	4	(963)			_		(959)
Share-based compensation expense			6,548		_		_		6,548	
Repurchase of common stock	(3,165,582)	(32)	(52,978)					(53,010)
Net loss					(26,988)			(26,988)
Dividends			(20,009)					(20,009)
Other comprehensive income (loss):										
Change in fair value of derivative instruments, net of tax benefit of \$54	_	_	_		_		(87)	(87)
Cumulative translation adjustment					_		(1,169)	(1,169)
Pension and other postretirement benefitiability adjustment, net of tax of \$2,75°		_	_				4,409		4,409	
Balance, September 30, 2015	91,294,136	\$ 913	\$ 684,973		\$ (68,003)	\$ (81,830)	\$ 536,053	

See Notes to unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Table of Contents

DEAN FOODS COMPANY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited) (In thousands)

	Nine Mor Septemb	nths Ended er 30
	2016	2015
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Net income (loss)	\$87,098	\$(26,988)
Loss on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax		89
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash flows from operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization	132,737	131,975
Share-based compensation expense	20,723	11,751
(Gain) loss on divestitures and other, net	1,166	(2,606)
Impairment of intangible assets		109,910
Loss on early retirement of long-term debt		43,609
Deferred income taxes	12,532	(42,066)
Other, net	276	3,165
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:		
Receivables, net	25,947	89,381
Inventories	3,406	(264)
Prepaid expenses and other assets	10,902	18,406
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	(94,706)	(47,715)
Income tax receivable/payable	3,390	52,234
Litigation settlements	(18,853)	(18,853)
Net cash provided by operating activities	184,618	322,028
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Payments for property, plant and equipment	(81,305)	(80,629)
Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired	(157,321)	
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets	13,742	15,822
Net cash used in investing activities	(224,884)	(64,807)
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Repayments of debt, net	(1,178)	(1,028)
Early retirement of long-term debt		(476,188)
Premiums paid on early retirement of debt	_	(37,309)
Payments of financing costs	_	(16,836)
Proceeds from senior secured revolver	197,200	
Payments for senior secured revolver		(426,271)
Proceeds from receivables securitization facility	525,000	685,000
Payments for receivables securitization facility	(465,000)	(920,000)
Proceeds from issuance of 2023 notes		700,000
Repurchase of common stock		(53,010)
Cash dividends paid		(19,784)
Issuance of common stock, net of share repurchases for withholding taxes		891
Tax savings on share-based compensation	678	186
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	9,044	(208,379)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	(1,354)	
Change in cash and cash equivalents	(32,576)	
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	60,734	16,362

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period See Notes to unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

\$28,158 \$63,767

Table of Contents

DEAN FOODS COMPANY

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 and 2015

(Unaudited)

1. General

Nature of Our Business — We are a leading food and beverage company and the largest processor and direct-to-store distributor of milk and other dairy and dairy case products in the United States. We have aligned our leadership teams, operating strategies and supply chain initiatives under a single operating and reportable segment. We process and distribute fluid milk and other dairy products, including ice cream, ice cream mix and cultured products, which are marketed under more than 50 local and regional dairy brands and a wide array of private labels. We also produce and distribute DairyPure®, our national white milk brand, and TruMoo®, our national flavored milk brand, as well as juices, teas, bottled water and other products.

Basis of Presentation — The unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q have been prepared on the same basis as the Consolidated Financial Statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 (the "2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K"), which we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 22, 2016. In our opinion, we have made all necessary adjustments (which include only normal recurring adjustments) to present fairly, in all material respects, our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows as of the dates and for the periods presented. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") have been omitted. Our results of operations for the three and nine month period ended September 30, 2016 may not be indicative of our operating results for the full year. The unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Unless otherwise indicated, references in this report to "we," "us," "our" or "the Company" refer to Dean Foods Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2015-03, Imputation of Interest - Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs. ASU 2015-03 requires debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability to be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts or premiums. The recognition and measurement guidance for debt issuance costs are not affected by this ASU. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-15, Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs Associated with Line-of-Credit Arrangements. ASU 2015-15 clarifies ASU 2015-03 by allowing the presentation of debt issuance costs related to a line-of-credit to be recorded as an asset instead of as a direct deduction of the carrying amount of the debt liability as required by ASU 2015-03, regardless of whether there are any outstanding borrowings on the line-of-credit arrangement. We adopted ASU No. 2015-03 in the first quarter of 2016 and this presentation has been retroactively applied to prior periods. Beginning in the first quarter of 2016, presentation of debt issuance costs, not related to revolving credit agreements, were reclassified from other assets and are netted against the outstanding debt balance. See Note 5.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-16, Income Taxes: Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory. ASU 2016-16 reduces complexity by allowing the recognition of current and deferred income taxes for an intra-entity asset transfer (other than inventory) when the transfer occurs. The new guidance is intended to reduce the complexity of GAAP and diversity in practice related to the tax consequences of certain types of intra-entity asset transfers, particularly those involving intellectual property. For public companies, this standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods within those annual reporting periods. Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of an annual reporting period for which financial statements (interim or annual) have not been issued or made available for issuance. The amendments should be applied on a modified retrospective basis through a cumulative-effect adjustment directly to retained earnings as of the

beginning of the period of adoption. We are currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of this standard will have on our financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows: Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments. The new guidance is intended to eliminate diversity in practice in how certain cash receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. The new standard is effective for financial statements

Table of Contents

issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted for all entities, provided that all of the amendments are adopted in the same period. The guidance requires application using a retrospective transition method. We are currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of this standard will have on our financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation-Stock Compensation - Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. ASU 2016-09 simplifies several aspects of the accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities, and classification on the statement of cash flows. For public companies, the amendments in this standard are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods. Amendments related to the timing of when excess tax benefits are recognized, minimum statutory withholding requirements, forfeitures, and intrinsic value should be applied using a modified retrospective transition method by means of a cumulative-effect adjustment to equity as of the beginning of the period in which the guidance is adopted. Amendments related to the presentation of employee taxes paid on the statement of cash flows when an employer withholds shares to meet the minimum statutory withholding requirement should be applied retrospectively. Amendments requiring recognition of excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies in the income statement and the practical expedient for estimating the expected term should be applied prospectively. An entity may elect to apply the amendments related to the presentation of excess tax benefits on the statement of cash flows using either a prospective transition method or a retrospective transition method. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of this standard will have on our financial statements and we do not currently expect the effects of this standard to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases, ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities in the balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements, such as information about variable lease payments and options to renew and terminate leases. The amended guidance will require both operating and finance leases to be recognized in the balance sheet. Additionally, the amended guidance aligns lessor accounting to comparable guidance in Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The amended guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The amendments in this ASU should be adopted using a modified retrospective transition approach, which requires application of the new guidance at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the year of adoption. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of this standard will have on our financial statements.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Liabilities. ASU 2016-01 supersedes existing guidance to classify equity securities with readily determinable fair values into different categories and requires equity securities to be measured at fair value with changes in the fair value recognized through net income. An entity's equity investments that are accounted for under the equity method of accounting or result in consolidation of an investee are not included within the scope of this amended guidance. The amendments allow equity investments that do not have readily determinable fair values to be remeasured at fair value either upon the occurrence of an observable price change or upon identification of impairment. The amended guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The amendments in this ASU should be applied by means of a cumulative-effect adjustment to the balance sheet as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. The amendments related to equity securities without readily determinable fair values (including disclosure requirements) should be applied prospectively to equity investments that exist as of the date of adoption of the Update. Early application of certain amendments in this standard to financial statements of fiscal years and interim periods that have not yet been issued is permitted as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. Except for the early application of certain amendments discussed above, early adoption of the standard is not permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of this standard will have on our financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, Income Taxes - Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes. ASU 2015-17 simplifies the presentation of deferred income taxes and requires that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified statement of financial position. The amendments eliminate the

guidance in ASC Topic 740 that requires an entity to separate deferred tax liabilities and assets into a current amount and a noncurrent amount in a classified statement of financial position. The amendments in this ASU may be applied retrospectively or prospectively and will be effective beginning January 1, 2017 with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of this standard will have on our financial statements. In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, Inventory - Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory. Under ASU 2015-11, entities utilizing the FIFO or average cost method should measure inventory at the lower of cost or net realizable value, where net realizable value is defined as the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. The amendments in this ASU should be applied prospectively and

Table of Contents

will be effective beginning January 1, 2017 with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of this standard will have on our financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern. ASU 2014-15 provides guidance on determining when and how to disclose going concern uncertainties in the financial statements. The new standard requires management to perform interim and annual assessments of an entity's ability to continue as a going concern within one year of the date the financial statements are issued. An entity must provide certain disclosures if conditions or events raise substantial doubt about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. ASU 2014-15 applies to all entities and is effective for annual periods ending after December 15, 2016, and interim periods thereafter, with early adoption permitted. We do not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material impact on our financial statement disclosures.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The comprehensive new standard will supersede existing revenue recognition guidance and require revenue to be recognized when promised goods or services are transferred to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Adoption of the new rules could affect the timing of revenue recognition for certain transactions. The standard allows for either "full retrospective" adoption, meaning the standard is applied to all of the periods presented, or "modified retrospective" adoption, meaning the standard is applied only to the most current period presented in the financial statements. The new standard was originally effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and early adoption was not permitted. On August 12, 2015, the FASB approved a one year delay of the effective date to reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, while permitting companies to voluntarily adopt the new standard as of the original effective date. We are currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance on our financial statements and have not yet selected a transition approach to implement the standard. We do not intend to early adopt this standard.

2. Acquisitions

On June 20, 2016, we completed the acquisition of Friendly's Ice Cream Holdings Corp. ("Friendly's Holdings"), including its wholly-owned subsidiary, Friendly's Manufacturing and Retail, LLC ("Friendly's Manufacturing," and together with Friendly's Holdings, "Friendly's"), the Friendly's demark and all intellectual property associated with the ice cream business. Friendly's develops, produces, manufactures, markets, distributes and sells ice cream and other frozen dessert-related products, as well as toppings. The Friendly's family-dining restaurant chain will continue to be owned and operated by an affiliate of Sun Capital Partners, Inc. and will license use of the Friendly's trademark from the Company under license and supply agreements entered into as part of the transaction. The aggregate purchase price was \$157.3 million and included the base purchase price of \$155.0 million plus a net working capital adjustment of \$2.3 million as of the closing date. This acquisition was funded through a combination of cash on hand and borrowings under our senior secured credit facility and receivables securitization facility.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with the acquisition have been recorded at their fair values. As described in further detail below, we determined the fair values based in part on an independent valuation of the net assets acquired, which includes identifiable intangible assets of \$81.7 million, of which \$29.7 million relates to customer relationships that are subject to amortization over a period of 15 years. Additionally, we assumed an unfavorable lease contract with a fair value of \$5.4 million, which will be amortized as a reduction of rent expense over the term of the lease agreement.

We recorded goodwill of \$77.0 million, which consists of the excess of the net purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired. This goodwill represents the expected value attributable to an anticipated increased competitive position in the ice cream market in the Northeastern United States. The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

Table of Contents

The following table provides the preliminary estimated fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date (in thousands):

June 20,	
2016	
\$16,260	
11,724	
4,036	
11,001	
77,002	
81,709	
(9,075)
(6,158)
(29,178)
\$157,321	1
	2016 \$16,260 11,724 4,036 11,001 77,002 81,709 (9,075 (6,158 (29,178

We recorded the fair value of the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with the Friendly's acquisition. The fair value measurements were primarily based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) developed using company-specific information.

We estimated the fair value of the Friendly's trademark based on an income approach using the relief-from-royalty method, which is a widely accepted valuation technique that considers the cost savings associated with owning, rather than licensing, a trademark. This approach is dependent on a number of factors, including estimates of future growth and trends, royalty rates in the category of intellectual property, discount rates and other variables. The customer relationship intangible assets were valued using the "With or Without" method, which is a commonly used valuation technique for customer relationships. This discounted cash flow method estimates the fair value of an asset by comparing the value of the business inclusive of the asset, to the hypothetical value of the same business excluding the asset. The key assumptions used in the methodology are the cash flows estimated with and without the customer relationships over the estimated period that would be required to acquire those customers. The fair value estimates made in connection with the Friendly's acquisition are based on a set of assumptions we believe to be reasonable but which can be unpredictable and inherently uncertain.

The values reflected in the table above may change as we finalize our assessment of the acquired assets and liabilities. A change in these valuations may also impact the income tax related accounts and goodwill. The pro forma impact of the acquisition on consolidated net earnings would not have materially changed reported net earnings. Friendly's results of operations have been included in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations from the date of acquisition.

In connection with this transaction, we recorded acquisition-related expenses of approximately \$0.3 million and \$4.4 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively. These charges included expenses related to due diligence, legal support, investment advisers and regulatory matters, as well as other non-material transactional activities. These costs were included in general and administrative expenses in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

3. Inventories

Inventories at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, consisted of the following:

SeptemberDecember 30, 2016 31, 2015 (In thousands)

Raw materials and supplies \$101,482 \$99,272 Finished goods 160,162 154,054 Total \$261,644 \$253,326

4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2015, the gross carrying value of goodwill was \$2.2 billion and accumulated goodwill impairment was \$2.1 billion. The Company took a goodwill impairment charge of \$2.1 billion in 2011 with no goodwill impairment charges in subsequent years.

Table of Contents

The changes in the net carrying amount of goodwill as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 are as follows (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2015 \$86,841 Acquisitions (Note 2) 77,002 Balance at September 30, 2016 \$163,843

The gross and net carrying amounts of our intangible assets other than goodwill as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 were as follows:

	September 30, 2016				December 31, 2015						
	Gross Carrying Amount (1) (In thousa		Accumular Amortizati	ted Net Carrying on Amount	Gross Carrying Amount	Impairment	Accumulat Amortizati	Net ed Carrying on Amount			
Intangible assets with indefinite lives: Trademarks Intangible assets with finite lives:	\$52,000	\$	\$	\$52,000	\$	\$	\$	\$			
Customer-related and other	\$78,925	\$—	\$ (35,970) \$42,955	\$49,225	\$—	\$ (33,700	\$15,525			
Trademarks	229,777	(109,910)	(37,749) 82,118	229,777	(109,910)	(24,423) 95,444			
Total	\$360,702	\$(109,910)	\$ (73,719) \$177,073	\$279,002	\$(109,910)	\$ (58,123	\$110,969			

(1) The increase in the carrying amounts of indefinite-lived trademarks and customer-related intangibles from December 31, 2015 to September 30, 2016 is related to the Friendly's acquisition. See Note 2.

Prior to 2015, certain of our trademarks were not amortized as our intent was to continue to use these intangible assets indefinitely. During the first quarter of 2015, we approved the launch of DairyPure[®], our national white milk brand. In connection with the approval of the launch of DairyPure®, we re-evaluated our indefinite-lived trademarks and determined them to be finite-lived, with remaining useful lives of 5 years. The launch of DairyPure® resulted in a triggering event for impairment testing purposes. Based upon our testing, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of \$109.9 million and related income tax benefit of \$41.2 million in the first quarter of 2015. We estimated the fair value of our trademarks based on an income approach using the relief-from-royalty method. This approach is dependent on a number of factors, including estimates of future growth and trends, royalty rates in the category of intellectual property, discount rates and other variables. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable, but which are unpredictable and inherently uncertain. The impairment charge is reported in the impairment of intangible assets line in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. In the first quarter of 2016, we further evaluated the remaining useful life of our finite-lived trademarks in conjunction with our newly approved strategy around our ice cream brands. Based on our evaluation, we extended the useful lives of certain of our finite-lived trademarks. Our remaining trademark values will be amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives, which range from 5 to 10 years. Amortization expense on intangible assets for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 was \$5.2 million and \$6.4 million, respectively. Amortization expense on intangible assets for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 was \$15.6 million and \$15.3 million, respectively. The amortization of intangible assets is reported on a separate line item in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Table of Contents

Estimated aggregate intangible asset amortization expense for the next five years is as follows (in millions):

2016\$20.8

201720.6

201820.0

201920.0

202011.9

5. Debt

Our long-term debt as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 consisted of the following:

1	September 30, 2016		December 31, 2015		C	
	Amount	nt Interest Rate		Amount	Interes Rate	t
	(In thousar	nds, exce	ept	percentages	s)	
Dean Foods Company debt obligations:						
Senior notes due 2023	\$700,000	6.50	%	\$700,000	6.50	%
	700,000			700,000		
Subsidiary debt obligations:						
Senior notes due 2017	142,000	6.90		142,000	6.90	
Receivables securitization facility	60,000	1.72	*			
Capital lease and other	4,034			5,212		
	206,034			147,212		
Subtotal	906,034			847,212		
Unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs(1)	(9,952)			(12,639)		
Total debt	896,082			834,573		
Less current portion	(1,067)			(1,493)		
Total long-term portion	\$895,015			\$833,080		

Represents a weighted average rate, including applicable interest rate margins.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2016, unamortized debt issuance costs, not related to revolving credit agreements, (1) of \$7.0 million and \$7.9 million as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, are netted against the outstanding debt balance. See Note 1.

The scheduled debt maturities at September 30, 2016 were as follows (in thousands):

2016	\$265
2017	143,078
2018	61,125
2019	1,174
2020	392
Thereafter	700,000
Subtotal	906,034
Less unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs	(9,952)
Total debt	\$896,082

Table of Contents

Dean Foods Company Senior Notes due 2023 — On February 25, 2015, we issued \$700 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.50% senior notes due 2023 (the "2023 Notes") at an issue price of 100% of the principal amount of the 2023 Notes in a private placement for resale to "qualified institutional buyers" as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and in offshore transactions pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act.

In connection with the issuance of the 2023 Notes, the Company paid certain arrangement fees of approximately \$7.0 million to initial purchasers and other fees of approximately \$1.8 million, which were capitalized and will be amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the 2023 Notes.

The 2023 Notes are senior unsecured obligations. Accordingly, the 2023 Notes rank equally in right of payment with all of our existing and future senior obligations and are effectively subordinated in right of payment to all of our existing and future secured obligations, including obligations under our senior secured credit facility and receivables securitization facility, to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such obligations. The 2023 Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis, jointly and severally, by our subsidiaries that guarantee obligations under the Credit Facility (as defined below).

The 2023 Notes will mature on March 15, 2023 and bear interest at an annual rate of 6.50%. Interest on the 2023 Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears in March and September of each year.

We may, at our option, redeem all or a portion of the 2023 Notes at any time on or after March 15, 2018 at the applicable redemption prices specified in the indenture governing the 2023 Notes (the "Indenture"), plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the applicable redemption date. We are also entitled to redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2023 Notes before March 15, 2018 with the net cash proceeds that we receive from certain equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 106.5% of the principal amount of the 2023 Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the applicable redemption date. In addition, prior to March 15, 2018, we may redeem all or a portion of the 2023 Notes, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus a "make-whole" premium and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the applicable redemption date. If we undergo certain kinds of changes of control, holders of the 2023 Notes have the right to require us to repurchase all or any portion of such holder's 2023 Notes at 101% of the principal amount of the notes being repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the date of repurchase.

The Indenture contains covenants that, among other things, limit our ability to: (i) create certain liens; (ii) enter into sale and lease-back transactions; (iii) assume, incur or guarantee indebtedness for borrowed money that is secured by a lien on certain principal properties (or on any shares of capital stock of our subsidiaries that own such principal property) without securing the 2023 Notes on a pari passu basis; and (iv) consolidate with or merge with or into, or sell, transfer, convey or lease all or substantially all of our properties and assets, taken as a whole, to another person. We used the net proceeds from the 2023 Notes to redeem all of our outstanding senior unsecured notes due 2016, as described below, and to repay a portion of the outstanding borrowings under our previous senior secured credit facility and receivables securitization facility. The carrying value under the 2023 Notes at September 30, 2016 was \$693.0 million, net of unamortized debt issuance costs of \$7.0 million.

Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility — In March 2015, we terminated our previous credit facility, replacing it with the new credit facility described below. As a result of the termination, we recorded a write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs of \$5.3 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. The write-off was recorded in the loss on early retirement of long-term debt line in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. In March 2015, we executed a new credit agreement (the "Credit Agreement") pursuant to which the lenders have provided us with a five-year revolving credit facility in the amount of up to \$450 million (the "Credit Facility"). Under the Credit Agreement, we have the right to request an increase of the aggregate commitments under the Credit Facility by up to \$200 million without the consent of any lenders not participating in such increase, subject to specified conditions. The Credit Facility is available for the issuance of up to \$75 million of letters of credit and up to \$100 million of swing line loans. The Credit Facility will terminate in March 2020.

In connection with the execution of the Credit Agreement, we paid certain arrangement fees of approximately \$4.8 million to lenders and other fees of approximately \$2.5 million, which were capitalized and will be amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the facility.

Loans outstanding under the Credit Facility bear interest, at our option, at either (i) the LIBO rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus a margin of between 2.25% and 2.75% (2.25% as of September 30, 2016) based on the total net

Table of Contents

leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement), or (ii) the alternate base rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus a margin of between 1.25% and 1.75% (1.25% as of September 30, 2016) based on the total net leverage ratio. We may make optional prepayments of the loans, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty (other than applicable breakage costs). Subject to certain exceptions and conditions described in the Credit Agreement, we will be obligated to prepay the Credit Facility, but without a corresponding commitment reduction, with the net cash proceeds of certain asset sales and with casualty insurance proceeds. The Credit Facility is guaranteed by our existing and future domestic material restricted subsidiaries (as defined in the Credit Agreement), which are substantially all of our wholly-owned U.S. subsidiaries other than the receivables securitization facility subsidiaries (the "Guarantors"). The Credit Facility is secured by a first priority perfected security interest in substantially all of our assets and the assets of the Guarantors, whether consisting of personal, tangible or intangible property, including a pledge of, and a perfected security interest in, (i) all of the shares of capital stock of the Guarantors and (ii) 65% of the shares of capital stock of the Guarantor's first-tier foreign subsidiaries which are material restricted subsidiaries, in each case subject to certain exceptions as set forth in the Credit Agreement. The collateral does not include, among other things, (a) any real property with an individual net book value below \$10 million, (b) the capital stock and any assets of any unrestricted subsidiary, (c) any capital stock of any direct or indirect subsidiary of Dean Holding Company ("Legacy Dean"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, which owns any real property, or (d) receivables sold pursuant to the receivables securitization facility.

The Credit Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants, including, but not limited to specified restrictions on indebtedness, liens, guarantee obligations, mergers, acquisitions, consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions, sales of assets, leases, payments of dividends and other restricted payments during a default or non-compliance with the financial covenants, investments, loans and advances, transactions with affiliates and sale and leaseback transactions. The Credit Agreement also contains customary events of default and related cure provisions. We are required to comply with (a) a maximum senior secured net leverage ratio of 2.50x (which, for purposes of calculating indebtedness, excludes borrowings under our receivables securitization facility); and (b) a minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of 2.25x. In addition, the Credit Agreement imposes certain restrictions on our ability to pay dividends and make other restricted payments if our total net leverage ratio is in excess of 3.25x. At September 30, 2016, there were no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility. Our average daily balance under the Credit Facility during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was \$1.6 million. There were no letters of credit issued under the Credit Facility as of September 30, 2016.

Dean Foods Receivables Securitization Facility — We have a \$550 million receivables securitization facility pursuant to which certain of our subsidiaries sell their accounts receivable to two wholly-owned entities intended to be bankruptcy-remote. The entities then transfer the receivables to third-party asset-backed commercial paper conduits sponsored by major financial institutions. The assets and liabilities of these two entities are fully reflected in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, and the securitization is treated as a borrowing for accounting purposes.

In March 2015, the receivables securitization facility was modified to, among other things, extend the liquidity termination date from June 2017 to March 2018 and modify the covenants to be consistent with those contained in the Credit Agreement described above.

In connection with the modification of the receivables securitization facility, we paid certain arrangement fees of approximately \$0.7 million to lenders, which were capitalized and will be amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the facility.

Based on the monthly borrowing base formula, we had the ability to borrow up to \$427.6 million of the total commitment amount under the receivables securitization facility as of September 30, 2016. The total amount of receivables sold to these entities as of September 30, 2016 was \$578.4 million. During the first nine months of 2016, we borrowed \$525.0 million and repaid \$465.0 million under the facility with a remaining balance of \$60.0 million as of September 30, 2016. In addition to letters of credit in the aggregate amount of \$118.6 million that were issued but undrawn, the remaining available borrowing capacity was \$249.0 million at September 30, 2016. Our average daily balance under this facility during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was \$11.0 million. The receivables securitization facility bears interest at a variable rate based upon commercial paper and one-month LIBO rates plus an

applicable margin based on our net leverage ratio.

Standby Letter of Credit — In February 2012, in connection with a settlement agreement we entered into with the plaintiffs in the Tennessee dairy farmer litigation, we issued a standby letter of credit in the amount of \$80 million, representing the approximate amount of subsequent payments due under the terms of the settlement agreement. The total amount of the letter of credit decreased proportionately as we made each of the four annual installment payments. As of September 30, 2016,

Table of Contents

the letter of credit has been reduced to zero as a result of the final annual installment payment of \$18.9 million, which we made in June 2016.

Dean Foods Company Senior Notes due 2016 — In March 2015, we redeemed the remaining principal amount of \$476.2 million of our outstanding senior notes due 2016 at a total redemption price of approximately \$521.8 million. As a result, we recorded a \$38.3 million pre-tax loss on early retirement of long-term debt in the first quarter of 2015, which consisted of debt redemption premiums and unpaid interest of \$37.3 million, a write-off of unamortized long-term debt issue costs of \$0.8 million and write-off of the remaining bond discount and interest rate swaps of approximately \$0.2 million. The loss was recorded in the loss on early retirement of long-term debt line in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. The redemption was financed with proceeds from the issuance of the 2023 Notes.

Subsidiary Senior Notes due 2017 — Legacy Dean had certain senior notes outstanding at the time of its acquisition, of which one series remains outstanding (\$142 million aggregate principal amount) and matures in October 2017. The carrying value under these notes at September 30, 2016 was \$139.1 million, net of unamortized discounts of \$2.9 million, at 6.90% interest. The indenture governing the Legacy Dean senior notes does not contain financial covenants but does contain certain restrictions, including a prohibition against Legacy Dean and its subsidiaries granting liens on certain of their real property interests and a prohibition against Legacy Dean granting liens on the stock of its subsidiaries. The Legacy Dean senior notes are not guaranteed by Dean Foods Company or Legacy Dean's wholly-owned subsidiaries.

See Note 6 for information regarding the fair value of the 2023 Notes and the subsidiary senior notes due 2017 as of September 30, 2016.

Capital Lease Obligations and Other — Capital lease obligations of \$4.0 million and \$5.2 million as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively, included our land and building leases, as well as leases for information technology equipment.

6. Derivative Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements

Derivative Financial Instruments

Commodities — We are exposed to commodity price fluctuations, including in the prices of milk, butterfat, sweeteners and other commodities used in the manufacturing, packaging and distribution of our products, such as natural gas, resin and diesel fuel. To secure adequate supplies of materials and bring greater stability to the cost of ingredients and their related manufacturing, packaging and distribution, we routinely enter into forward purchase contracts and other purchase arrangements with suppliers. Under the forward purchase contracts, we commit to purchasing agreed-upon quantities of ingredients and commodities at agreed-upon prices at specified future dates. The outstanding purchase commitment for these commodities at any point in time typically ranges from one month's to one year's anticipated requirements, depending on the ingredient or commodity. These contracts are considered normal purchases. In addition to entering into forward purchase contracts, from time to time we may purchase over-the-counter contracts from qualified financial institutions or enter into exchange-traded commodity futures contracts for raw materials that are ingredients of our products or components of such ingredients. All commodities contracts are marked to market in our income statement at each reporting period and a derivative asset or liability is recorded on our balance sheet.

Table of Contents

Although we may utilize forward purchase contracts and other instruments to mitigate the risks related to commodity price fluctuation, such strategies do not fully mitigate commodity price risk. Adverse movements in commodity prices over the terms of the contracts or instruments could decrease the economic benefits we derive from these strategies. At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, our derivatives recorded at fair value in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of the following:

Derivative Assets Derivative Liabilities September December 31, September December 31, 30. 30, 2015 2015 2016 2016 (In thousands) \$2,276 \$ 317 Commodities contracts — current(1) \$5,431 \$ 10,023 Commodities contracts — non-current(2)-690 Total derivatives \$5,431 \$ 10,713 \$2.276 \$ 317

Derivative assets and liabilities that have settlement dates equal to or less than 12 months from the respective

- (1) balance sheet date are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets and accounts payable and accrued expenses, respectively, in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.
- Derivative assets and liabilities that have settlement dates greater than 12 months from the respective balance sheet
- (2) date are included in identifiable intangible and other assets, net, and other long-term liabilities, respectively, in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering assumptions, we follow a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

- Level 1 Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.
- Level 2 Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active and model-derived valuations, in which all significant inputs are observable in active markets.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

A summary of our derivative assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2016 is as follows (in thousands):

A summary of our derivative assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2015 is as follows (in thousands):

Due to their near-term maturities, the carrying amounts of accounts receivable and accounts payable are considered equivalent to fair value. In addition, because the interest rates on our Credit Facility, receivables securitization facility, and certain other debt are variable, their fair values approximate their carrying values.

Table of Contents

The fair values of the 2023 Notes and subsidiary senior notes were determined based on quoted market prices obtained through an external pricing source which derives its price valuations from daily marketplace transactions, with adjustments to reflect the spreads of benchmark bonds, credit risk and certain other variables. We have determined these fair values to be Level 2 measurements as all significant inputs into the quotes provided by our pricing source are observable in active markets. The following table presents the outstanding principal amounts and fair values of the 2023 Notes and subsidiary senior notes at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

September 30, 2016 December 31, 2015

Amount Fair Value Outstanding Outstanding
(In thousands)

\$700,000,\$743,750,\$700,000,\$726,250

Dean Foods Company senior notes due 2023 \$700,000 \$743,750 \$700,000 \$726,250 Subsidiary senior notes due 2017 142,000 148,390 142,000 148,745

Additionally, we maintain a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan ("SERP"), which is a nonqualified deferred compensation arrangement for our executive officers and other employees earning compensation in excess of the maximum compensation that can be taken into account with respect to our 401(k) plan. The SERP is designed to provide these employees with retirement benefits from us that are equivalent, as a percentage of total compensation, to the benefits provided to other employees. The assets related to the SERP are primarily invested in money market and mutual funds and are held at fair value. We classify these assets as Level 2 as fair value can be corroborated based on quoted market prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active. The following table presents a summary of the SERP assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Money market \$ 45 \$ —\$ 45 \$ —

Mutual funds 1,663 — 1,663 —

The following table presents a summary of the SERP assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2015 (in thousands):

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Money market \$ 4 \$ —\$ 4 \$ —

Mutual funds 1,506 — 1,506 —

7. Common Stock and Share-Based Compensation

Our authorized shares of capital stock include one million shares of preferred stock and 250 million shares of common stock with a par value of \$0.01 per share.

Cash Dividends — In November 2013, we announced that our Board of Directors had adopted a cash dividend policy. Under the policy, holders of our common stock will receive dividends when and as declared by our Board of Directors. Beginning in 2015, all awards of restricted stock units, performance stock units and phantom shares provide for cash dividend equivalent units, which vest in cash at the same time as the underlying award. On March 3, 2016, we announced that our Board of Directors declared an increased quarterly dividend of \$0.09 per share of common stock, from the \$0.07 per share quarterly dividend paid in each quarter of 2015. We expect to pay quarterly dividends of \$0.09 per share (\$0.36 per share annually). Quarterly dividends of \$0.09 per share were paid in March, June and September of 2016, totaling approximately \$24.7 million for the first nine months of 2016. Quarterly dividends of \$0.07 per share were paid in March, June and September of 2015, totaling approximately \$19.8 million for the first nine months of 2015. Our cash dividend policy is subject to modification, suspension or cancellation in any manner and at any time. Dividends are presented as a reduction to retained earnings in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity unless we have an accumulated deficit as of the end of the period, in which case they are reflected as a reduction to additional paid-in capital.

Stock Repurchase Program — Since 1998, our Board of Directors has from time to time authorized the repurchase of our common stock up to an aggregate of \$2.38 billion, excluding fees and commissions. We made no share repurchases during the three months ended September 30, 2016, and we repurchased 1,371,185 shares for \$25.0 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. We repurchased 3,165,582 shares for \$53.0 million during the three and nine

months ended September 30, 2015. As of September 30, 2016, \$197.1 million was available for repurchases under this program

Table of Contents

(excluding fees and commissions). Our management is authorized to purchase shares from time to time through open market transactions at prevailing prices or in privately-negotiated transactions, subject to market conditions and other factors. Shares, when repurchased, are retired.

Stock Options — The following table summarizes stock option activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2016:

		Weighted	Weighted	Aggregate
	Ontions	Average	Average	Intrinsic
	Options	Exercise	Contractual	Value
		Price	Life (Years)	value
Options outstanding and exercisable at January 1, 2016	3,204,925	\$ 20.07		
Forfeited and canceled	(908,494)	22.20		
Exercised	(191,013)	14.02		
Options outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2016	2,105,418	\$ 19.69	2.00	\$2,623,087

We recognize share-based compensation expense for stock options ratably over the vesting period. The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes valuation model. We did not grant any stock options during 2015 or 2016, nor do we currently plan to in the future. At September 30, 2016, there was no remaining unrecognized stock option expense related to unvested awards.

Restricted Stock Units — We issue restricted stock units ("RSUs") to certain senior employees and non-employee directors as part of our long-term incentive compensation program. An RSU represents the right to receive one share of common stock in the future. RSUs have no exercise price. RSUs granted to employees generally vest ratably over three years, subject to certain accelerated vesting provisions based primarily on a change of control, or in certain cases upon death or qualified disability. RSUs granted to non-employee directors vest ratably over three years.

The following table summarizes RSU activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2016:

	Employees	Non-Employee	Total	
	Employees	Non-Employee Directors		
RSUs outstanding at January 1, 2016	871,876	94,816	966,692	
RSUs granted	445,464	43,547	489,011	
Shares issued upon vesting of RSUs	(176,226)	(55,298)	(231,524)	
RSUs canceled or forfeited(1)	(183,455)	(2,270)	(185,725)	
RSUs outstanding at September 30, 2016	957,659	80,795	1,038,454	
Weighted average grant date fair value	\$ 17.15	\$ 17.56	\$ 17.18	

Pursuant to the terms of our plans, employees have the option of forfeiting RSUs to cover their minimum statutory (1)tax withholding when shares are issued. Any RSUs surrendered or canceled in satisfaction of participants' tax withholding obligations are not available for future grants under the plans.

Performance Stock Units — Beginning in 2016, performance share units ("PSUs") were granted as part of our long-term incentive compensation program. PSUs will cliff vest and be settled in shares of our common stock at the end of a three-year performance period contingent upon the achievement of specific performance goals established for each calendar year during the performance period. The number of shares that may be earned at the end of the vesting period may range from zero to 200 percent of the target award amount based on the achievement of the performance goals. The fair value of PSUs is estimated using the market price of our common stock on the date of grant, and we recognize compensation expense ratably over the vesting period for the portion of the award that is expected to vest. The following table summarizes PSU activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2016:

Table of Contents

 PSUs
 Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value

 Outstanding at January 1, 2016
 — \$ —

 Granted
 90,583
 19.13

 Vested
 — —

 Forfeited
 — —

 Outstanding at September 30, 2016
 90,583
 \$ 19.13

Phantom Shares — We grant phantom shares as part of our long-term incentive compensation program, which are similar to RSUs in that they are based on the price of our stock and vest ratably over a three-year period, but are cash-settled based upon the value of our stock at each vesting period. The fair value of the awards is remeasured at each reporting period. Compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period with a corresponding liability, which is recorded in accounts payable and accrued expenses in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The following table summarizes the phantom share activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2016:

 $Shares & Weighted \\ Average Grant \\ Date \\ Fair Value \\ Outstanding at January 1, 2016 & 1,159,519 & 15.94 \\ Granted & 805,918 & 19.18 \\ Converted/paid & (537,906) 16.04 \\ Forfeited & (49,599) 17.34 \\ Outstanding at September 30, 2016 & 1,377,932 & 17.75 \\ \\ \\$

Share-Based Compensation Expense — The following table summarizes the share-based compensation expense recognized during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015:

-	Three Months		Nine Months			
	Ended		Ended September			
	Septem	ber 30	30	•		
	2016	2015	2016	2015		
	(In thou	isands)				
Stock options	\$—	\$10	\$—	\$88		
RSUs	4,728	2,516	8,165	6,460		
PSUs	1,868	_	2,707	_		
Phantom shares	2,330	2,307	9,851	5,203		
Total	\$8,926	\$4,833	\$20,723	\$11,751		

Table of Contents

22

8. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share ("EPS") is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted EPS is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and the effect of all dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding during each period. Stock option conversions and RSUs were not included in the computation of diluted loss per share for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 as we incurred a loss from continuing operations for this period and any effect on loss per share would have been anti-dilutive. The following table reconciles the numerators and denominators used in the computations of both basic and diluted EPS:

	Ended Sentember		Nine Months End September 30		ed
	2016	2015	2016	2015	
	(In thous	ands, exc	ept share	data)	
Basic earnings (loss) per share computation:					
Numerator:					
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$14,526	\$20,233	\$87,098	\$(26,899)
Denominator:					
Average common shares	90,423,4	6963,254,5	4971,076,7	4913,950,69	93
Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations	\$0.16	\$0.22	\$0.96	\$ (0.29)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share computation:					
Numerator:					
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$14,526	\$20,233	\$87,098	\$(26,899)
Denominator:					
Average common shares — basic	90,423,4	6963,254,5	4971,076,7	4913,950,69	93
Stock option conversion(1)	225,789	202,974	246,096		
RSUs(2)	316,120	358,657	372,001		
Average common shares — diluted	90,965,3	7933,816,1	7981,694,8	393,950,69	93
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations	\$0.16	\$0.22	\$0.95	\$(0.29)
(1) Anti-dilutive common shares excluded	1,184,44	92,624,20	41,292,76	£,979,348	8
(2) Anti-dilutive stock units excluded	4,410	755	1,481	302,022	

Table of Contents

9. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component, net of tax, during the three months ended September 30, 2016 were as follows (in thousands):

	Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits Items	Foreign Currency Total Items
Balance at June 30, 2016	\$ (80,244)	\$(3,579) \$(83,823)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications	2,658	(521) 2,137
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income(1)	(1,464)	— (1,464)
Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss)	1,194	(521) 673
Balance at September 30, 2016	\$ (79,050)	\$(4,100) \$(83,150)

The accumulated other comprehensive loss reclassification is related to amortization of unrecognized actuarial (1) losses and prior service costs, both of which are included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost. See Note 10.

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component, net of tax, during the three months ended September 30, 2015 were as follows (in thousands):

	Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits Items	Foreign Currency Total Items
Balance at June 30, 2015	\$ (80,905)	\$(1,552) \$(82,457)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications	2,903	(808) 2,095
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss(1)	(1,468)	— (1,468)
Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss)	1,435	(808) 627
Balance at September 30, 2015	\$ (79,470)	\$(2,360) \$(81,830)

The accumulated other comprehensive loss reclassification is related to amortization of unrecognized actuarial (1)losses and prior service costs, both of which are included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost. See Note 10.

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component, net of tax, during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 were as follows (in thousands):

	Pension and Other	Foreign
	Postretirement	Currency Total
	Benefits Items	Items
Balance at December 31, 2015	\$ (83,279)	\$(2,524) \$(85,803)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications	8,622	(1,576) 7,046
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income(1)	(4,393)	— (4,393)
Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss)	4,229	(1,576) 2,653
Balance at September 30, 2016	\$ (79,050)	\$(4,100) \$(83,150)

The accumulated other comprehensive loss reclassification is related to amortization of unrecognized actuarial (1) losses and prior service costs, both of which are included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost. See Note 10.

Table of Contents

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component, net of tax, during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 were as follows (in thousands):

	Changes Cash Flo Hedges		Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits Items	Foreign Currency Total Items
Balance at December 31, 2014	\$ 87		\$ (83,879)	\$(1,191) \$(84,983)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications	(87)	8,815	(1,169) 7,559
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss(1)	_		(4,406)	— (4,406)
Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss)	(87)	4,409	(1,169) 3,153
Balance at September 30, 2015	\$ —		\$ (79,470)	\$(2,360) \$(81,830)

The accumulated other comprehensive loss reclassification is related to amortization of unrecognized actuarial (1)losses and prior service costs, both of which are included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost. See Note 10.

Table of Contents

10. Employee Retirement and Postretirement Benefits

We sponsor various defined benefit and defined contribution retirement plans, including various employee savings and profit sharing plans, and contribute to various multiemployer pension plans on behalf of our employees. All full-time union and non-union employees who have met requirements pursuant to the plans are eligible to participate in one or more of these plans.

Defined Benefit Plans — The benefits under our defined benefit plans are based on years of service and employee compensation. The following table sets forth the components of net periodic benefit cost for our defined benefit plans during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015:

-	Three Months		Nine Mo	onths
	Ended		Ended	
	September 30		Septemb	er 30
	2016 2015		2016	2015
	(In thous	sands)		
Components of net periodic benefit cost:				
Service cost	\$793	\$908	\$2,379	\$2,724
Interest cost	3,043	3,434	9,129	10,302
Expected return on plan assets	(4,633)	(4,938)	(13,899)	(14,814)
Amortizations:				
Prior service cost	214	214	642	642
Unrecognized net loss	2,206	2,136	6,618	6,408
Net periodic benefit cost	\$1,623	\$1,754	\$4,869	\$5,262

Postretirement Benefits — Certain of our subsidiaries provide health care benefits to certain retirees who are covered under specific group contracts. The following table sets forth the components of net periodic benefit cost for our postretirement benefit plans during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015:

	Ended		Nine Mo Ended Septemb	
			•	
	2016	2015	2016	2015
	(In tho	usands	s)	
Components of net periodic benefit cost:				
Service cost	\$160	\$205	\$480	\$615
Interest cost	271	364	813	1,092
Amortizations:				
Prior service cost	23	23	69	69
Unrecognized net loss (gain)	(61)	16	(183)	48
Net periodic benefit cost	\$393	\$608	\$1,179	\$1.824

Three

11. Asset Impairment Charges and Facility Closing and Reorganization Costs

Asset Impairment Charges

We evaluate our long-lived assets for impairment when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Indicators of impairment could include, among other factors, significant changes in the business environment or the planned closure of a facility. Considerable management judgment is necessary to evaluate the impact of operating changes and to estimate future cash flows.

Testing the assets for recoverability involves developing estimates of future cash flows directly associated with, and that are expected to arise as a direct result of, the use and eventual disposition of the assets. Other inputs are based on assessment of an individual asset's alternative use within other production facilities, evaluation of recent market data and historical liquidation sales values for similar assets. As the inputs for testing for recoverability are largely based on management's judgments and are not generally observable in active markets, we consider such measurements to be

Level 3 measurements in the fair value hierarchy. See Note 6.

Table of Contents

The results of our analysis indicated no impairment of our property, plant and equipment, outside of facility closing and reorganization costs, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015. We can provide no assurance that we will not have impairment charges in future periods as a result of changes in our business environment, operating results or the assumptions and estimates utilized in our impairment tests. Facility Closing and Reorganization Costs

Costs associated with approved plans within our ongoing network optimization strategies are summarized as follows:

Three Months
Ended
September 30
2016 2015 2016 2015
(In thousands)
\$9,297 \$2,709 \$9,063 \$9,362

Closure of facilities, net(1)

Facility closing and reorganization costs, net \$9,297 \$2,709 \$9,063 \$9,362

Reflects charges, net of gains on the sales of assets, associated with closed facilities that were incurred in 2016 and 2015. These charges are primarily related to facility closures in Orem, Utah; New Orleans, Louisiana; Rochester, Indiana; Sheboygan, Wisconsin; Riverside, California; Delta, Colorado; Denver, Colorado; Dallas, Texas; Waco, Texas; Springfield, Virginia; Buena Park, California; Evart, Michigan; Bangor, Maine; Shreveport, Louisiana and

(1) Mendon, Massachusetts, as well as other approved closures. We have incurred net charges to date of \$74.2 million related to these facility closures through September 30, 2016. We expect to incur additional charges related to these facility closures of approximately \$4.2 million related to contract termination, shutdown and other costs. As we continue the evaluation of our supply chain and distribution network, it is likely that we will close additional facilities in the future.

Activity with respect to facility closing and reorganization costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 is summarized below and includes items expensed as incurred:

	Accrued			
	Charges			Accrued
	at	Charges and	Dovimente	Charges at
	Decembe	e A djustments	Payments	September
	31,			30, 2016
	2015			
	(In thous	ands)		
Cash charges:				
Workforce reduction costs	\$5,476	\$ 2,482	\$(1,855)	\$ 6,103
Shutdown costs	_	1,614	(1,614)	
Lease obligations after shutdown	5,286	318	(1,334)	4,270
Other		740	(740)	
Subtotal	\$10,762	5,154	\$(5,543)	\$ 10,373
Other charges (gains):				
Write-down of assets(1)		7,872		
Gain on sale of related assets		(3,963		
Subtotal		3,909		
Total		\$ 9,063		

The write-down of assets relates primarily to owned buildings, land and equipment of those facilities identified for closure. The assets were tested for recoverability at the time the decision to close the facilities was more likely than not to occur. Over time, refinements to our estimates used in testing for recoverability may result in additional asset write-downs. The write-down of assets can include accelerated depreciation recorded for those facilities identified for closure. Our methodology for testing the recoverability of the assets is consistent with the methodology described in the "Asset Impairment Charges" section above.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Contingent Obligations Related to Divested Operations — We have divested certain businesses in recent years. In each case, we have retained certain known contingent obligations related to those businesses and/or assumed an obligation to

Table of Contents

indemnify the purchasers of the businesses for certain unknown contingent liabilities, including environmental liabilities. We believe that we have established adequate reserves, which are immaterial to the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, for potential liabilities and indemnifications related to our divested businesses. Moreover, we do not expect any liability that we may have for these retained liabilities, or any indemnification liability, to materially exceed amounts accrued.

Contingent Obligations Related to Milk Supply Arrangements — In 2001, in connection with our acquisition of Legacy Dean, we purchased Dairy Farmers of America's ("DFA") 33.8% interest in our operations. In connection with that transaction, we issued a contingent, subordinated promissory note to DFA in the original principal amount of \$40 million. The promissory note has a 20-year term and bears interest based on the consumer price index. Interest will not be paid in cash but will be added to the principal amount of the note annually, up to a maximum principal amount of \$96 million. We may prepay the note in whole or in part at any time, without penalty. The note will become payable only if we materially breach or terminate one of our related milk supply agreements with DFA without renewal or replacement. Otherwise, the note will expire in 2021, without any obligation to pay any portion of the principal or interest. Payments made under the note, if any, would be expensed as incurred. We have not terminated, and we have not materially breached, any of our milk supply agreements with DFA related to the promissory note. We have previously terminated unrelated supply agreements with respect to several plants that were supplied by DFA. In connection with our goals of cost control and supply chain efficiency, we continue to evaluate our sources of raw milk supply.

Insurance — We use a combination of insurance and self-insurance for a number of risks, including property, workers' compensation, general liability, automobile liability, product liability and employee health care utilizing high deductibles. Deductibles vary due to insurance market conditions and risk. Liabilities associated with these risks are estimated considering historical claims experience and other actuarial assumptions. Based on current information, we believe that we have established adequate reserves to cover these claims.

Lease and Purchase Obligations — We lease certain property, plant and equipment used in our operations under both capital and operating lease agreements. Such leases, which are primarily for machinery, equipment and vehicles, have lease terms ranging from one to 20 years. Certain of the operating lease agreements require the payment of additional rentals for maintenance, along with additional rentals based on miles driven or units produced. Certain leases require us to guarantee a minimum value of the leased asset at the end of the lease. Our maximum exposure under those guarantees is not a material amount.

We have entered into various contracts, in the normal course of business, obligating us to purchase minimum quantities of raw materials used in our production and distribution processes, including conventional raw milk, diesel fuel, sugar and other ingredients that are inputs into our finished products. We enter into these contracts from time to time to ensure a sufficient supply of raw ingredients. In addition, we have contractual obligations to purchase various services that are part of our production process.

Litigation, Investigations and Audits

Tennessee Retailer and Indirect Purchaser Actions

A putative class action antitrust complaint (the "retailer action") was filed against Dean Foods and other milk processors on August 9, 2007 in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Tennessee. Plaintiffs allege generally that we, either acting alone or in conjunction with others in the milk industry, lessened competition in the Southeastern United States for the sale of processed fluid Grade A milk to retail outlets and other customers. Plaintiffs further allege that the defendants' conduct artificially inflated wholesale prices paid by direct milk purchasers. In March 2012, the district court granted summary judgment in favor of defendants, including the Company, as to all counts then remaining. Plaintiffs appealed the district court's decision, and in January 2014, the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit reversed the grant of summary judgment as to one of the five original counts in the Tennessee retailer action. Following the Sixth Circuit's denial of our request to reconsider the case en banc, the Company petitioned the Supreme Court of the United States for review. On November 17, 2014, the Supreme Court denied our petition and the case returned to the district court. On January 19, 2016, the district court granted summary judgment to defendants on claims accruing after May 8, 2009. On January 25, 2016, the district court denied summary judgment in other respects and denied plaintiffs' motion for class certification. On February 8, 2016, plaintiffs filed a

petition for permission to appeal the district court's order denying class certification. That petition was denied on June 14, 2016. On March 30, 2016, the district court issued an order holding that the case will be judged under an antitrust legal doctrine known as the rule of reason. The case is presently scheduled for trial on March 28, 2017. At this time, it is not possible for us to predict the outcome of the matter.

On June 29, 2009, another putative class action lawsuit was filed in the Eastern District of Tennessee on behalf of indirect purchasers of processed fluid Grade A milk (the "indirect purchaser action"). This case was voluntarily dismissed, and the same plaintiffs filed a nearly identical complaint on January 17, 2013. The allegations in this complaint were similar to

Table of Contents

those in both the retailer action and the 2009 indirect purchaser action, but involved only claims arising under Tennessee law. The Company filed a motion to dismiss, and on September 11, 2014, the district court granted in part and denied in part that motion, dismissing the non-Tennessee plaintiffs' claims. The Company filed its answer to the surviving claims on October 15, 2014. On March 16, 2016, the court granted a joint motion to stay the indirect purchaser action pending the Sixth Circuit's decision on the pending class certification review petition in the retailer action. On July 11, 2016, the parties stipulated to the dismissal of the indirect purchaser action; the stipulation does not address whether the right of plaintiffs to file a new complaint has been waived or lost. At this time, it is not possible for us to predict the outcome of this matter.

In addition to the pending legal proceedings set forth above, we are party from time to time to certain claims, litigations, audits and investigations. Potential liabilities associated with these other matters are not expected to have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

13. Segment, Geographic and Customers Information

We operate as a single reportable segment in manufacturing, marketing, selling and distributing a wide variety of branded and private label dairy case products, including fluid milk, ice cream, cultured dairy products, creamers, ice cream mix and other dairy products. We operate 66 manufacturing facilities which are geographically located largely based on local and regional customer needs and other market factors. Our products are primarily delivered through what we believe to be one of the most extensive refrigerated direct store delivery ("DSD") systems in the United States. Our customers include retailers, distributors, foodservice outlets, educational institutions and governmental entities across the United States. Our Chief Executive Officer evaluates the performance of our business based on sales and operating income or loss before gains and losses on the sale of businesses, facility closing and reorganization costs, litigation settlements, impairments of long-lived assets and other non-recurring gains and losses.

Geographic Information — Net sales related to our foreign operations comprised less than 1% of our consolidated net sales during each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015. None of our long-lived assets are associated with our foreign operations.

Significant Customers — Our largest customer accounted for approximately 16% of our consolidated net sales in each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015.

Table of Contents

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this "Form 10-Q") contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Forward-looking statements are predictions based on our current expectations and our projections about future events, and are not statements of historical fact. Forward-looking statements include statements concerning our business strategy, among other things, including anticipated trends and developments in, and management plans for, our business and the markets in which we operate. In some cases, you can identify these statements by forward-looking words, such as "estimate," "expect," "anticipate," "project," "plan," "intend," "believe," "foreca "foresee," "likely," "may," "should," "goal," "target," "might," "will," "could," "predict," and "continue," the negative or plura words and other comparable terminology. All forward-looking statements included in this Form 10-Q are based upon information available to us as of the filing date of this Form 10-Q, and we undertake no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements for any reason. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these statements. These factors include the matters discussed in "Part I — Item 1A — Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 (the "2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K"), and elsewhere in this Form 10-Q. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described under these sections. **Business Overview**

We are a leading food and beverage company and the largest processor and direct-to-store distributor of fluid milk and other dairy and dairy case products in the United States, with a vision to be the most admired and trusted provider of wholesome, great-tasting dairy products at every occasion. As we continue to evaluate and seek to maximize the value of our national operational network and our leading brands and product offerings, we have aligned our leadership team, operating strategy, and sales, logistics and supply chain initiatives into a single operating and reportable segment.

We manufacture, market and distribute a wide variety of branded and private label dairy case products, including fluid milk, ice cream, cultured dairy products, creamers, ice cream mix and other dairy products to retailers, distributors, foodservice outlets, educational institutions and governmental entities across the United States. Our portfolio includes DairyPure®, the country's first and largest fresh, white milk national brand, and TruMoo®, the leading national flavored milk brand, along with well-known regional dairy brands such as Alta Dena®, Berkeley Farms®, Country Fresh®, Dean's®, Friendly's®, Garelick Farms®, LAND O LAKES® milk and cultured products (licensed brand), Lehigh Valley Dairy Farms®, Mayfield®, McArthur®, Meadow Gold®, Oak Farms®, PET® (licensed brand), T.G. Lee®, Tuscan® and more. In all, we have more than 50 national, regional and local dairy brands as well as private labels. Dean Foods also makes and distributes ice cream, cultured products, juices, teas, and bottled water. Due to the perishable nature of our products, we deliver the majority of our products directly to our customers' locations in refrigerated trucks or trailers that we own or lease. We believe that we have one of the most extensive refrigerated direct store delivery ("DSD") systems in the United States. Our products are sold primarily on a local or regional basis through local and regional sales forces, although some national customer relationships are coordinated by a centralized corporate sales department.

Recent Developments

Management Changes

On September 1, 2016, we announced that Gregg A. Tanner will step down as Chief Executive Officer of the Company and resign from his position as a member of the Company's Board of Directors, effective January 1, 2017. Ralph Scozzafava, currently Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, will be promoted to Chief Executive Officer and appointed to the Company's Board of Directors, effective as of January 1, 2017. Mr. Tanner will continue to serve in an advisory capacity as an employee of the Company through the Annual Stockholders Meeting in May 2017. In connection with this transition, Mr. Tanner will receive compensation and benefits pursuant to the Company's Amended and Restated Executive Severance Pay Plan following his termination of employment.

Table of Contents

Friendly's Acquisition

On June 20, 2016, we completed the acquisition of Friendly's Ice Cream Holdings Corp. ("Friendly's Holdings"), including its wholly-owned subsidiary, Friendly's Manufacturing and Retail, LLC ("Friendly's Manufacturing," and together with Friendly's Holdings, "Friendly's"), the Friendly's demark and all intellectual property associated with the ice cream business. Friendly's develops, produces, manufactures, markets, distributes and sells ice cream and other frozen dessert-related products, as well as toppings. The Friendly's restaurant chain will continue to be owned and operated by an affiliate of Sun Capital Partners, Inc. and will license use of the Friendly's trademark from us under license and supply agreements entered into as part of the transaction. The aggregate purchase price was \$157.3 million and included the base purchase price of \$155.0 million plus a net working capital adjustment of \$2.3 million as of the closing date. This acquisition was funded through a combination of cash on hand and borrowings under our senior secured credit facility and receivables securitization facility. Our preliminary fair value assignments may change as we finalize our assessment of the acquired assets and liabilities. A change in these valuations may also impact the income tax related accounts and goodwill. Friendly's results of operations have been included in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations from the date of acquisition.

See Note 2 to our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on the Friendly's acquisition.

Other

In March 2016, Walmart announced that it plans to build a dairy processing plant in Indiana to supply certain Walmart and Sam's Club stores located in the Midwest. We currently estimate that the impact of this processing plant may result in our loss of sales of approximately 100 million gallons annually of very low-margin private-label fluid milk volume. However, we do not expect this announcement to materially affect our private-label fluid milk volumes in 2017. Pursuant to our agreement with Walmart, Walmart is required to provide advance notice to us prior to terminating the agreement for each specific region. We have not yet received notice of termination from Walmart with respect to its stores in any region. Dialogue between the Company and Walmart is ongoing, and we are in the early stages of preparing network optimization plans for the potentially affected region to prepare for the anticipated impact from Walmart's processing plant when it is completed. Given the ample advance notice time, we do not expect this development will have a material impact on our financial results. Further, we expect to continue to supply Walmart's private label milk for other Walmart and Sam's Club stores across the United States.

Table of Contents

Results of Operations

Our key performance indicators are brand mix, achieving low cost and higher volume performance, which are reflected in gross profit, operating income and net sales, respectively. We evaluate our financial performance based on sales and operating profit or loss before gains and losses on the sale of businesses, facility closing and reorganization costs, asset impairment charges, litigation settlements and other nonrecurring gains and losses. The following table presents certain information concerning our financial results, including information presented as a percentage of net sales:

	Three Months Ended September 30			Nine Months Ended September 30				
	2016 2015		2016		2015			
	Dollars	Percent	Dollars	Percent	Dollars	Percent	Dollars	Percent
	(Dollars in millions)							
Net sales	\$1,964.6	100.0%	\$2,033.7	100.0%	\$5,692.2	100.0%	\$6,099.2	100.0%
Cost of sales	1,475.8	75.1	1,541.7	75.8	4,206.1	73.9	4,633.3	76.0
Gross profit(1)	488.8	24.9	492.0	24.2	1,486.1	26.1	1,465.9	24.0
Operating costs and expenses:								
Selling and distribution	341.5	17.4	347.5	17.1	1,005.5	17.7	1,023.8	16.8
General and administrative	90.8	4.6	84.9	4.2	262.6	4.6	259.6	4.3
Amortization of intangibles	5.2	0.3	6.4	0.3	15.6	0.3	15.3	0.3
Facility closing and reorganization costs,	9.3	0.5	2.7	0.1	9.1	0.2	9.4	0.2
net	9.5	0.5	2.1	0.1	9.1	0.2	J. ↑	0.2
Impairment of intangible assets				_		_	109.9	1.8
Total operating costs and expenses	446.8	22.7	441.5	21.7	1,292.8	22.7	1,418.0	23.2
Operating income	\$42.0	2.1 %	\$50.5	2.5 %	\$193.3	3.4 %	\$47.9	0.8 %

As disclosed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K, we include certain shipping and handling costs within selling and distribution expense. As a result, our gross profit may not be comparable to other entities that present all shipping and handling costs as a component of cost of sales.

Quarter Ended September 30, 2016 Compared to Quarter Ended September 30, 2015

Net Sales — The change in net sales was due to the following:

Three Months
Ended
September
30, 2016 vs.
2015
(In millions)

Volume \$ (44.3)
Pricing and product mix changes (71.7)
Acquisitions 46.9

Total decrease \$ (69.1)

Net sales decreased \$69.1 million, or 3.4%, during the third quarter of 2016 as compared to the third quarter of 2015, primarily due to decreased pricing, as a result of declines in dairy commodity costs from year-ago levels. On average, during the third quarter of 2016, the Class I raw milk price was approximately 7.8% below prior-year levels. Net sales were further impacted by a 1.0% sales volume decline across all products from year-ago levels. Volume declines across our fluid milk products, which accounted for approximately 76% of our total sales volume, were primarily the result of large format private label volume we have chosen to exit, as this volume was not consistent with our more disciplined pricing architecture. Our total branded white milk volumes decreased 1.8% year-over-year, and we experienced a nearly 5% increase in our flavored milk volumes.

We generally increase or decrease the prices of our fluid dairy products on a monthly basis in correlation with fluctuations in the costs of raw materials, packaging supplies and delivery costs. However, we continuously balance our

Table of Contents

product pricing with the execution of our strategy to improve net price realization and, in some cases, we are subject to the terms of our sales agreements with respect to the means and/or timing of price increases, which can negatively impact our profitability. The following table sets forth the average monthly Class I "mover" and its components, as well as the average monthly Class II minimum prices for raw skim milk and butterfat for the third quarter of 2016 compared to the third quarter of 2015:

	Three Months Ended					
	September 30*					
	2016	2015	% Cha	ange		
Class I mover(1)	\$15.11	\$16.38	(7.8)%		
Class I raw skim milk mover(1)(2)	6.63	9.23	(28.2)		
Class I butterfat mover(2)(3)	2.49	2.14	16.4			
Class II raw skim milk minimum(1)(4)	6.59	6.76	(2.5)		
Class II butterfat minimum(3)(4)	2.47	2.38	3.8			

The prices noted in this table are not the prices that we actually pay. The federal order minimum prices applicable at any given location for Class I raw skim milk or Class I butterfat are based on the Class I mover prices plus a location differential. Class II prices noted in the table are federal minimum prices, applicable at all locations. Our actual cost *also includes producer premiums, procurement costs and other related charges that vary by location and supplier. Please see "Part I — Item 1. Business — Government Regulation — Milk Industry Regulation" in our 2015 Annual Report o Form 10-K and "— Known Trends and Uncertainties — Prices of Conventional Raw Milk and Other Inputs" below for a more complete description of raw milk pricing.

- (1)Prices are per hundredweight.
- (2) We process Class I raw skim milk and butterfat into fluid milk products.
- (3) Prices are per pound.
- (4) We process Class II raw skim milk and butterfat into products such as cottage cheese, creams and creamers, ice cream and sour cream.

Cost of Sales — All expenses incurred to bring a product to completion are included in cost of sales, such as raw material, ingredient and packaging costs; labor costs; and plant and equipment costs. Cost of sales decreased by 4.3% in the third quarter of 2016 compared to the third quarter of 2015, primarily due to decreased dairy commodity costs. The Class I raw milk price was approximately 7.8% below prior-year levels. Additionally, the decrease in cost of sales was further impacted by our ongoing cost and efficiency initiatives as well as lower sales volumes as described above. Gross Profit — Our gross profit percentage increased to 24.9% in the third quarter of 2016 as compared to 24.2% in the third quarter of 2015. This increase was primarily due to pricing actions and the associated increased margin pool for our branded products and declining input costs. Increases to gross profit were partially offset by overall volume declines discussed above.

Operating Costs and Expenses — Operating costs and expenses increased by 1.2% in the third quarter of 2016 as compared to the third quarter of 2015. Significant changes within operating costs and expenses in the third quarter of 2016 as compared to the third quarter of 2015 include the following:

Selling and distribution costs decreased \$6.0 million primarily due to lower fuel costs in the third quarter of 2016, partially offset by increased advertising costs.

The increase in general and administrative costs was primarily due to a separation charge of \$10.1 million recorded in the third quarter of 2016 in connection with the announcement of our CEO succession plan. See "Recent Developments - Management Changes". This increase was partially offset by lower incentive-based compensation expense during the third quarter of 2016.

Amortization of intangibles decreased by \$1.2 million during the third quarter of 2016 related to the extension of the useful lives of certain of our finite-lived trademarks in conjunction with our newly approved strategy around our ice cream brands in the first quarter of 2016. See Note 4 to our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. Facility closing and reorganization costs increased \$6.6 million during the third quarter of 2016 due to additional asset write-downs and other charges associated with the closure of three facilities. See Note 11 to our unaudited Condensed

Consolidated Financial Statements.

Table of Contents

Other (Income) Expense — Other expense decreased by \$0.7 million during the third quarter of 2016 as compared to the third quarter of 2015. This decrease in expense was primarily due to lower interest expense in the third quarter of 2016 compared to the third quarter of 2015.

Income Taxes — Income tax expense was recorded at an effective rate of 45.4% for the third quarter of 2016 compared to a 41.2% effective tax rate for the third quarter of 2015. Generally, our effective tax rate varies primarily based on our profitability level and the relative earnings of our business units. In the third quarter of 2016, our effective tax rate was also impacted by a state tax law change. Excluding the \$1.0 million of tax expense related to the state law change, our effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2016 was 41.7%.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 Net Sales — The change in net sales was due to the following:

Nine
Months
Ended
September
30, 2016
vs. 2015
(In
millions)
Volume
\$ (179.5)
Pricing and product mix changes (283.1)
Acquisitions
55.6
Total decrease
\$ (407.0)

Net sales decreased \$407.0 million, or 6.7%, during the first nine months of 2016 as compared to the first nine months of 2015, primarily due to decreased pricing, as a result of significant declines in dairy commodity costs from year-ago levels. On average, during the first nine months of 2016, the Class I raw milk price was approximately 12.0% below prior-year levels. Net sales were further impacted by a sales volume decline of 2.5% from year-ago levels. Volume declines across our fluid milk products, which accounted for approximately 77% of our total sales volume, were primarily the result of large format private label volume we have chosen to exit, as this volume was not consistent with our more disciplined pricing architecture. Our total branded white milk volumes decreased 1.1% year-over-year, and we experienced a 2.6% increase in our flavored milk volumes.

The following table sets forth the average monthly Class I "mover" and its components, as well as the average monthly Class II minimum prices for raw skim milk and butterfat for the first nine months of 2016 in comparison to the first nine months of 2015:

	Nine Months Ended				
	September 30*				
	2016	2015	% Change		
Class I mover(1)	\$14.37	\$16.33	(12.0)%		
Class I raw skim milk mover(1)(2)	6.07	9.74	(37.7)		
Class I butterfat mover(2)(3)	2.43	1.98	22.7		
Class II raw skim milk minimum(1)(4)	6.20	7.97	(22.2)		
Class II butterfat minimum(3)(4)	2.36	2.07	14.0		

^{*}The prices noted in this table are not the prices that we actually pay. The federal order minimum prices applicable at any given location for Class I raw skim milk or Class I butterfat are based on the Class I mover prices plus a location differential. Class II prices noted in the table are federal minimum prices, applicable at all locations. Our actual cost also includes producer premiums, procurement costs and other related charges that vary by location and supplier. Please see "Part I — Item 1. Business — Government Regulation — Milk Industry Regulation" in our 2015 Annual Report o Form 10-K and "— Known Trends and Uncertainties — Prices of Conventional Raw Milk and Other Inputs" below for a

more complete description of raw milk pricing.

- (1) Prices are per hundredweight.
- (2) We process Class I raw skim milk and butterfat into fluid milk products.
- (3) Prices are per pound.
- We process Class II raw skim milk and butterfat into products such as cottage cheese, creams and creamers, ice cream and sour cream.

Cost of Sales — Cost of sales decreased by 9.2% in the first nine months of 2016 compared to the first nine months of 2015, primarily due to decreased dairy commodity costs. The Class I raw milk price was approximately 12.0%

Table of Contents

below prior-year levels. In addition, this decrease was due to our ongoing cost and efficiency initiatives as well as lower sales volumes as described above.

Gross Profit — Our gross profit percentage increased to 26.1% for the first nine months of 2016 as compared to 24.0% for the first nine months of 2015. This increase was primarily due to pricing actions and the associated increased margin pool for our branded products and declining input costs. Increases to gross profit were partially offset by overall volume declines discussed above.

Operating Costs and Expenses — Operating costs and expenses decreased by 8.8% in the first nine months of 2016 as compared to the first nine months of 2015. Significant changes to operating costs and expenses in the first nine months of 2016 as compared to the first nine months of 2015 include the following:

• Selling and distribution costs decreased \$18.3 million primarily due to lower fuel costs in the first nine months of 2016 compared to the first nine months of 2015, partially offset by increased advertising costs.

The increase in general and administrative costs was primarily due to a separation charge of \$10.1 million recorded in the third quarter of 2016 in connection with the announcement of our CEO succession plan. See "Recent Developments - Management Changes". Additionally, we recorded \$4.4 million of acquisition costs paid in conjunction with the Friendly's acquisition in June 2016. These charges were partially offset by lower incentive-based compensation expense. See Note 2 to our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding the Friendly's acquisition.

Other (Income) Expense — Other expense decreased by \$46.5 million during the first nine months of 2016 as compared to the first nine months of 2015. This decrease in expense was primarily due to the loss on early retirement of long-term debt of \$43.6 million recorded on the early retirement of our 2016 senior notes and extinguishment of our prior credit facility, which occurred during the first quarter of 2015. Net expense also decreased due to gains on foreign currency exchange of \$1.6 million in the first nine months of 2016 compared to \$0.7 million in the first nine months of 2015 and income from royalties of \$2.5 million in the first nine months of 2016 compared to \$0.6 million in the first nine months of 2015.

Income Taxes – Income tax expense was recorded at an effective rate of 40.9% for the first nine months of 2016 compared to a 39.5% effective tax benefit rate for the first nine months of 2015. Generally, our effective tax rate varies primarily based on our profitability level and the relative earnings of our business units. In the first nine months of 2016, our effective tax rate was also impacted by the establishment of an uncertain tax position and a state tax law change. Excluding the \$3.0 million of tax expense related to the uncertain tax position and the \$1.0 million of tax expense related to the state law change, our effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was 38.2%.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We believe that our cash on hand coupled with future cash flows from operations and other available sources of liquidity, including our \$450 million senior secured revolving credit facility and our \$550 million receivables securitization facility, together will provide sufficient liquidity to allow us to meet our cash requirements for at least the next twelve months. Our anticipated uses of cash include capital expenditures; working capital; pension contributions; financial obligations, including tax payments; and certain other costs that may be necessary to execute our strategic initiatives and invest to grow our business. On an ongoing basis, we will evaluate and consider strategic acquisitions, divestitures, joint ventures, or other transactions to create shareholder value and enhance financial performance. As discussed below, we have also instituted a cash dividend policy and may repurchase shares of our common stock opportunistically.

As of September 30, 2016, we had total cash on hand of \$28.2 million, of which \$11.2 million was attributable to our foreign operations. We are evaluating strategies and alternatives with respect to the cash attributable to our foreign operations.

At September 30, 2016, we had \$906.0 million of long-term debt obligations, excluding unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs of \$10.0 million, and \$699.0 million of combined available future borrowing capacity under our senior secured revolving credit facility and receivables securitization facility, subject to compliance with the covenants in our credit agreements. Based on our current expectations, we believe our liquidity and capital resources

will be sufficient to operate our business. However, we may, from time to time, raise additional funds through borrowings or public or private sales of debt or equity securities. The amount, nature and timing of any borrowings or sales of debt or equity securities will depend on our operating performance and other circumstances; our then-current commitments and obligations; the amount, nature and timing of our capital requirements; any limitations imposed by our current credit arrangements; and overall market conditions.

Table of Contents

Cash Dividends —Under our cash dividend policy, holders of our common stock will receive dividends when and as declared by our Board of Directors. Beginning in 2015, all awards of restricted stock units, performance stock units and phantom stock awards provide for cash dividend equivalent units, which vest in cash at the same time as the underlying award. On March 3, 2016, we announced that our Board of Directors declared an increased quarterly dividend of \$0.09 per share of common stock, from the \$0.07 per share quarterly dividend paid each quarter in 2014 and 2015. We expect to pay quarterly dividends of \$0.09 per share (\$0.36 per share annually). Quarterly dividends of \$0.09 per share were paid in March, June and September of 2016, totaling approximately \$24.7 million for the first nine months of 2016. Quarterly dividends of \$0.07 per share were paid in March, June and September of 2015, totaling approximately \$19.8 million for the first nine months of 2015. Our cash dividend policy is subject to modification, suspension or cancellation in any manner and at any time. See Note 7 to our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Stock Repurchase Program — Since 1998, our Board of Directors has from time to time authorized the repurchase of our common stock up to an aggregate of \$2.38 billion, excluding fees and commissions. We made no share repurchases during the three months ended September 30, 2016 and we repurchased 1,371,185 shares for \$25.0 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. We repurchased 3,165,582 shares for \$53.0 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015. As of September 30, 2016, \$197.1 million was available for repurchases under this program (excluding fees and commissions). Our management is authorized to purchase shares from time to time through open market transactions at prevailing prices or in privately-negotiated transactions, subject to market conditions and other factors. Shares, when repurchased, are retired.

Dean Foods Company Senior Notes due 2023 — On February 25, 2015, we issued \$700 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.50% senior notes due 2023 (the "2023 Notes") at an issue price of 100% of the principal amount of the 2023 Notes in a private placement for resale to "qualified institutional buyers" as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and in offshore transactions pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act.

In connection with the issuance of the 2023 Notes, the Company paid certain arrangement fees of approximately \$7.0 million to initial purchasers and other fees of approximately \$1.8 million, which were capitalized and will be amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the 2023 Notes.

The 2023 Notes are senior unsecured obligations. Accordingly, the 2023 Notes rank equally in right of payment with all of our existing and future senior obligations and are effectively subordinated in right of payment to all of our existing and future secured obligations, including obligations under our senior secured credit facility and receivables securitization facility, to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such obligations. The 2023 Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis, jointly and severally, by our subsidiaries that guarantee obligations under the Credit Facility (as defined below).

The 2023 Notes will mature on March 15, 2023 and bear interest at an annual rate of 6.50%. Interest on the 2023 Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears in March and September of each year.

We may, at our option, redeem all or a portion of the 2023 Notes at any time on or after March 15, 2018 at the applicable redemption prices specified in the indenture governing the 2023 Notes (the "Indenture"), plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the applicable redemption date. We are also entitled to redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2023 Notes before March 15, 2018 with the net cash proceeds that we receive from certain equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 106.5% of the principal amount of the 2023 Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the applicable redemption date. In addition, prior to March 15, 2018, we may redeem all or a portion of the 2023 Notes, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus a "make-whole" premium and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the applicable redemption date. If we undergo certain kinds of changes of control, holders of the 2023 Notes have the right to require us to repurchase all or any portion of such holder's 2023 Notes at 101% of the principal amount of the notes being repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the date of repurchase.

The Indenture contains covenants that, among other things, limit our ability to: (i) create certain liens; (ii) enter into sale and lease-back transactions; (iii) assume, incur or guarantee indebtedness for borrowed money that is secured by a lien on certain principal properties (or on any shares of capital stock of our subsidiaries that own such principal

property) without securing the 2023 Notes on a pari passu basis; and (iv) consolidate with or merge with or into, or sell, transfer, convey or lease all or substantially all of our properties and assets, taken as a whole, to another person.

Table of Contents

We used the net proceeds from the 2023 Notes to redeem all of our outstanding senior unsecured notes due 2016, as described below, and to repay a portion of the outstanding borrowings under our previous senior secured credit facility and receivables securitization facility.

Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility — In March 2015, we terminated our previous credit facility, replacing it with the new credit facility described below. As a result of the termination, we recorded a write-off of unamortized debt issue costs of \$5.3 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. The write-off was recorded in the loss on early retirement of long-term debt line in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. In March 2015, we executed a new credit agreement (the "Credit Agreement") pursuant to which the lenders have provided us with a five-year revolving credit facility in the amount of up to \$450 million (the "Credit Facility"). Under the Credit Agreement, we have the right to request an increase of the aggregate commitments under the Credit Facility by up to \$200 million without the consent of any lenders not participating in such increase, subject to specified conditions. The Credit Facility is available for the issuance of up to \$75 million of letters of credit and up to \$100 million of swing line loans. The Credit Facility will terminate in March 2020.

In connection with the execution of the Credit Agreement, we paid certain arrangement fees of approximately \$4.8 million to lenders and other fees of approximately \$2.5 million, which were capitalized and will be amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the facility.

Loans outstanding under the Credit Facility bear interest, at our option, at either (i) the LIBO rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus a margin of between 2.25% and 2.75% (2.25% as of September 30, 2016) based on the total net leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement), or (ii) the alternate base rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus a margin of between 1.25% and 1.75% (1.25% as of September 30, 2016) based on the total net leverage ratio.

We may make optional prepayments of the loans, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty (other than applicable breakage costs). Subject to certain exceptions and conditions described in the agreement, we will be obligated to prepay the Credit Facility, but without a corresponding commitment reduction, with the net cash proceeds of certain asset sales and with casualty insurance proceeds. The Credit Facility is guaranteed by our existing and future domestic material restricted subsidiaries (as defined in the Credit Agreement), which are substantially all of our wholly-owned U.S. subsidiaries other than the receivables securitization facility subsidiaries (the "Guarantors"). The Credit Facility is secured by a first priority perfected security interest in substantially all of our assets and the assets of the Guarantors, whether consisting of personal, tangible or intangible property, including a pledge of, and a perfected security interest in, (i) all of the shares of capital stock of the Guarantors and (ii) 65% of the shares of capital stock of the Guarantor's first-tier foreign subsidiaries which are material restricted subsidiaries, in each case subject to certain exceptions as set forth in the Credit Agreement. The collateral does not include, among other things, (a) any real property with an individual net book value below \$10 million, (b) the capital stock and any assets of any unrestricted subsidiary, (c) any capital stock of any direct or indirect subsidiary of Dean Holding Company ("Legacy Dean"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, which owns any real property, or (d) receivables sold pursuant to the receivables securitization facility.

The Credit Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants, including, but not limited to specified restrictions on indebtedness, liens, guarantee obligations, mergers, acquisitions, consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions, sales of assets, leases, payments of dividends and other restricted payments during a default or non-compliance with the financial covenants, investments, loans and advances, transactions with affiliates and sale and leaseback transactions. The Credit Agreement also contains customary events of default and related cure provisions. We are required to comply with (a) a maximum senior secured net leverage ratio of 2.50x (which, for purposes of calculating indebtedness, excludes borrowings under our receivables securitization facility); and (b) a minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of 2.25x. In addition, we have certain restrictions on our ability to pay dividends and make other restricted payments if our total net leverage ratio is in excess of 3.25x.

At September 30, 2016, there were no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility. Our average daily balance under the Credit Facility during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was \$1.6 million. There were no letters of credit issued under the Credit Facility as of September 30, 2016.

Dean Foods Receivables Securitization Facility — We have a \$550 million receivables securitization facility pursuant to which certain of our subsidiaries sell their accounts receivable to two wholly-owned entities intended to be bankruptcy-remote. The entities then transfer the receivables to third-party asset-backed commercial paper conduits sponsored by major financial institutions. The assets and liabilities of these two entities are fully reflected in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, and the securitization is treated as a borrowing for accounting purposes.

Table of Contents

In March 2015, the receivables securitization facility was modified to, among other things, extend the liquidity termination date from June 2017 to March 2018 and modify the covenants to be consistent with those contained in the Credit Agreement described above.

In connection with the modification of the receivables securitization facility, we paid certain arrangement fees of approximately \$0.7 million to lenders, which were capitalized and will be amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the facility.

There were outstanding borrowings of \$60.0 million under the receivables securitization facility, as amended, as of September 30, 2016. In addition to letters of credit in the aggregate amount of \$118.6 million that were issued but undrawn, the remaining available borrowing capacity was \$249.0 million at September 30, 2016. Availability under the receivables securitization facility is calculated using the current receivables balance for the seller entities, less adjustments for customer concentration limits, reserve requirements, and other adjustments as described in the amended and restated receivables repurchase agreement, not to exceed the total commitment amount less current borrowings and outstanding letters of credit. The receivables securitization facility bears interest at a variable rate based upon commercial paper and one-month LIBO rates plus an applicable margin based on our net leverage ratio. At November 2, 2016, we had \$10.0 million outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility and the receivables securitization facility, excluding letters of credit in the aggregate amount of \$118.3 million that were issued but undrawn.

Dean Foods Company Senior Notes due 2016 — In March 2015, we redeemed the remaining principal amount of \$476.2 million of our outstanding senior notes due 2016 at a total redemption price of approximately \$521.8 million. As a result, we recorded a \$38.3 million pre-tax loss on early retirement of long-term debt in the first quarter of 2015, which consisted of debt redemption premiums and unpaid interest of \$37.3 million, a write-off of unamortized long-term debt issue costs of \$0.8 million and write-off of the remaining bond discount and interest rate swaps of approximately \$0.2 million. The loss was recorded in the loss on early retirement of long-term debt line in our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. The redemption was financed with proceeds from the issuance of the 2023 Notes.

Covenant Compliance — The Credit Agreement and our receivables securitization facility require us to maintain a senior secured net leverage ratio less than 2.50x as of the end of each fiscal quarter. As described in more detail in our Credit Agreement and the purchase agreement governing our receivables securitization facility, the senior secured net leverage ratio is calculated as the ratio of consolidated senior secured indebtedness, less cash up to \$50 million to the extent held by us and our restricted subsidiaries and less any borrowings under our receivables securitization facility, to consolidated EBITDA for the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters ended on the measurement date. Consolidated senior secured indebtedness is comprised of our outstanding indebtedness and the outstanding indebtedness of certain of our subsidiaries, excluding our unrestricted subsidiaries, that is secured by a lien on any of our assets. Consolidated EBITDA is comprised of net income for us and our restricted subsidiaries plus interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization expense and other non-cash expenses, and certain other add-backs for non-recurring charges and other adjustments permitted in calculating covenant compliance under the Credit Agreement, and is calculated on a pro-forma basis to give effect to any acquisitions, divestitures or relevant changes in our composition or the composition of certain of our subsidiaries. In addition, the calculation of consolidated EBITDA may include adjustments related to other charges reasonably acceptable to the administrative agent. The Credit Agreement and our receivables securitization facility require us to maintain an interest coverage ratio of at least 2.25x as of the end of each fiscal quarter. As described in more detail in the Credit Agreement and the purchase agreement governing our receivables securitization facility, our interest coverage ratio is calculated as the ratio of consolidated EBITDA to consolidated interest expense for the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters ended on the measurement date. Consolidated EBITDA is calculated as described above in the discussion of our leverage ratio. Consolidated interest expense is comprised of consolidated interest expense paid or payable in cash by us and our restricted subsidiaries, as calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, but excluding write-offs or amortization of deferred financing fees and amounts paid on early termination of swap agreements. Total net leverage ratio is defined in the Credit Agreement as consolidated funded indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA for the prior four consecutive quarters. Although we do not have a financial covenant tied to our total net

leverage ratio, it is used in determining pricing under the Credit Agreement. In addition, the Credit Agreement imposes certain restrictions on our ability to pay dividends and make other restricted payments if our total net leverage ratio exceeds 3.25x.

As of September 30, 2016, we were in compliance with all covenants under our credit agreements.

Table of Contents

Historical Cash Flow

The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities:

Nine Months Ended September 30 2016 2015 Change

(In thousands)

Net cash flows from continuing operations:

 Operating activities
 \$184,618
 \$322,028
 \$(137,410)

 Investing activities
 (224,884) (64,807) (160,077)

 Financing activities
 9,044
 (208,379) 217,423

 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
 (1,354) (1,437) 83

 Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
 \$(32,576) \$47,405
 \$(79,981)

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was \$184.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to \$322.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2015. The decrease was partially attributable to a higher incentive-based compensation payout in the first quarter of 2016 associated with higher earnings for the full year of 2015. Additionally, the decrease was attributable to the receipt of our 2014 federal income tax refund of \$56 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2015.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased by \$160.1 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2015. This increase is primarily attributable to the \$157.3 million purchase price for the Friendly's acquisition, which closed in the second quarter of 2016.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was \$9.0 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 versus net cash used in financing activities of \$208.4 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2015. This change was driven by net debt proceeds under our credit facilities of \$60.0 million in the first nine months of 2016, as compared to net repayments of debt under our credit facilities of \$305.3 million in the first nine months of 2015. Additionally, in the first nine months of 2015, we paid \$16.8 million of financing costs in connection with our debt activities. Further contributing to the increase in net cash provided by financing activities was a decrease in share repurchases under our stock repurchase program to \$25.0 million during the first nine months of 2016 from \$53.0 million in the comparable prior year period. Offsetting these increases were net proceeds from the issuance of debt of \$186.5 million in the first nine months of 2015, which reflects proceeds of \$700.0 million from the issuance of the 2023 Notes, net of repayments on the early retirement of long-term debt of \$513.5 million. See Note 5 to our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. Additionally, cash used for dividend payments increased to \$24.7 million in the first nine months of 2016 in comparison to \$19.8 million in the first nine months of 2015. See Note 7 to our unaudited Condensed Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Contractual Obligations

As of September 30, 2016, there were no material changes outside the ordinary course of business to our contractual obligations as reported in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K, except as described below:

Payments Due by Period Total 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Thereafter (in millions)

Operating Leases(1) \$50.1 \$1.3 \$2.7 \$2.7 \$2.8 \$2.8 \$37.8

Represents future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases that were assumed in (1)connection with the Friendly's acquisition. See Note 2 to our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Table of Contents

Other Long-Term Liabilities

We offer pension benefits through various defined benefit pension plans and also offer certain health care and life insurance benefits to eligible employees and their eligible dependents upon the retirement of such employees. Reported costs of providing non-contributory defined pension benefits and other postretirement benefits are dependent upon numerous factors, assumptions and estimates. For example, these costs are impacted by actual employee demographics (including age, compensation levels and employment periods), the level of contributions made to the plan and earnings on plan assets. Pension and postretirement costs also may be significantly affected by changes in key actuarial assumptions, including anticipated rates of return on plan assets and the discount rates used in determining the projected benefit obligation and annual periodic pension costs.

We expect to contribute approximately \$5.3 million to the pension plans and approximately \$2.4 million to the postretirement health plans in 2016.

Other Commitments and Contingencies

In 2001, in connection with our acquisition of Legacy Dean, we purchased Dairy Farmers of America's ("DFA") 33.8% interest in our operations. In connection with that transaction, we issued a contingent, subordinated promissory note to DFA in the original principal amount of \$40 million. The promissory note has a 20-year term and bears interest based on the consumer price index. Interest will not be paid in cash but will be added to the principal amount of the note annually, up to a maximum principal amount of \$96 million. We may prepay the note in whole or in part at any time, without penalty. The note will become payable only if we materially breach or terminate one of our related milk supply agreements with DFA without renewal or replacement. Otherwise, the note will expire in 2021, without any obligation to pay any portion of the principal or interest. Payments made under the note, if any, would be expensed as incurred. We have not terminated, and we have not materially breached, any of our related milk supply agreements with DFA related to the promissory note. We have previously terminated unrelated supply agreements with respect to several plants that were supplied by DFA. In connection with our goals of cost control and supply chain efficiency, we continue to evaluate our sources of raw milk supply.

We also have the following commitments and contingent liabilities, in addition to contingent liabilities related to ordinary course litigation, investigations and audits:

certain indemnification obligations related to businesses that we have divested;

eertain lease obligations, which require us to guarantee the minimum value of the leased asset at the end of the lease; selected levels of property and casualty risks, primarily related to employee health care, workers' compensation claims and other casualty losses; and

certain litigation-related contingencies.

See Note 12 to our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Future Capital Requirements

During 2016, we intend to invest a total of approximately \$150 million to \$160 million in capital expenditures, primarily for our existing manufacturing facilities and in support of our strategic initiatives. We expect cash interest to be approximately \$61 million to \$62 million based upon current debt levels and projected forward interest rates under our Credit Facility. Cash interest excludes amortization of deferred financing fees and bond discounts of approximately \$6 million.

On an ongoing basis, we will evaluate and consider strategic acquisitions, divestitures, joint ventures, or other transactions to create shareholder value and enhance financial performance. We have also instituted a cash dividend policy and may repurchase shares of our common stock opportunistically.

Known Trends and Uncertainties

Prices of Conventional Raw Milk and Other Inputs

Conventional Raw Milk and Butterfat — The primary raw materials used in the products we manufacture, distribute and sell are conventional milk (which contains both raw milk and butterfat) and bulk cream. On a monthly basis, the federal government and certain state governments set minimum prices for raw milk. The regulated minimum prices differ based on how the raw milk is utilized. Raw milk processed into fluid milk is priced at the Class I price and raw milk processed into products such as cottage cheese, creams and creamers, ice cream and sour cream is priced at the Class II price. Generally, we

Table of Contents

pay the federal minimum prices for raw milk, plus certain producer premiums (or "over-order" premiums) and location differentials. We also incur other raw milk procurement costs in some locations (such as hauling, field personnel, etc.). A change in the federal minimum price does not necessarily mean an identical change in our total raw milk costs as over-order premiums may increase or decrease. This relationship is different in every region of the country and can sometimes differ within a region based on supplier arrangements. However, in general, the overall change in our raw milk costs can be linked to changes in federal minimum prices. Because our Class II products typically have a higher fat content than that contained in raw milk, we also purchase bulk cream for use in some of our Class II products. Bulk cream is typically purchased based on a multiple of the Grade AA butter price on the Chicago Mercantile Exchange.

Prices for conventional raw milk in the third quarter of 2016 were nearly 8% lower than year-ago levels and increased approximately 12% sequentially from the second quarter of 2016. We currently expect raw milk costs to increase by approximately 6% sequentially in the fourth quarter of 2016 (an approximately 2% decrease year-over-year). We currently anticipate ongoing stability in raw milk pricing going into 2017. Given the multitude of factors that influence the dairy commodity environment, we acknowledge the potential for future volatility.

Fuel and Resin Costs — We purchase diesel fuel to operate our extensive DSD system, and we incur fuel surcharge expense related to the products we deliver through third-party carriers. Although we may utilize forward purchase contracts and other instruments to mitigate the risks related to commodity price fluctuations, such strategies do not fully mitigate commodity price risk. Adverse movements in commodity prices over the terms of the contracts or instruments could decrease the economic benefits we derive from these strategies.

Another significant raw material we use is resin, which is a fossil fuel-based product used to make plastic bottles. The prices of diesel and resin are subject to fluctuations based on changes in crude oil and natural gas prices. For 2016, we expect our fuel costs to be lower than the prior year, with our resin costs increasing slightly for the remainder of the year.

Volume Performance

In the third quarter of 2016, our total sales volume across all product categories declined approximately 1.0% versus year-ago levels. The declines in our fluid milk volumes in the third quarter of 2016 compared to the third quarter of the prior year were primarily due to large format private label volume we have chosen to exit, as this volume was not consistent with our more disciplined pricing architecture. Our total branded white milk volumes decreased 1.8% year-over-year, and we experienced a nearly 5% increase in our flavored milk volumes. Our branded white milk includes DairyPure® and all of our other brands, all of which have varying economics across different channels and geographies. Across our other, non-fluid milk product categories, we experienced an increase in ice cream volume of approximately 14%, driven primarily by volumes associated with our recent Friendly's acquisition.

On a year-over-year basis, fluid milk sales data published by the USDA through August 2016 shows a fluid milk category sales volume decline of 0.9% for the third quarter to date. The conventional flavored milk category continues to drive growth in the fluid milk category, with year-over-year improvement of 5%.

In total, fluid milk volume performance is consistent with or exceeding our expectations. For the fourth quarter of 2016, on a year-over-year basis, we expect total volumes to continue to improve, driven primarily by additional private label volume and volume attributable to the Friendly's acquisition.

Tax Rate

Income tax expense was recorded at an effective rate of 40.9% in the first nine months of 2016 compared to a 39.5% effective tax rate for the first nine months of 2015. Changes in our profitability levels and the relative earnings of our business units, as well as changes to federal, state, and foreign tax laws, may cause the rate to change from historical rates

See the risk factors described in "Part I — Item 1A — Risk Factors" in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K, and elsewhere in this Form 10-Q herein for a description of various other risks and uncertainties concerning our business. Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

There have been no material changes in our quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk as set forth in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Table of Contents

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Controls Evaluation and Related Certifications

We conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ("Exchange Act"), referred to herein as "Disclosure Controls") as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report. The controls evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and Chief Financial Officer ("CFO"). Based upon our most recent controls evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that our Disclosure Controls were effective as of September 30, 2016.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the period covered by this quarterly report, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Acquisition of Friendly's

In June 2016, we acquired Friendly's. We are currently in the process of integrating Friendly's into our assessment of our internal control over financial reporting. Because Friendly's does not constitute a significant portion of our operations on a consolidated basis, we do not currently expect this integration effort to have a material effect on our internal control over financial reporting.

Table of Contents

Part II — Other Information

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Tennessee Retailer and Indirect Purchaser Actions

A putative class action antitrust complaint (the "retailer action") was filed against Dean Foods and other milk processors on August 9, 2007 in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Tennessee. Plaintiffs allege generally that we, either acting alone or in conjunction with others in the milk industry, lessened competition in the Southeastern United States for the sale of processed fluid Grade A milk to retail outlets and other customers. Plaintiffs further allege that the defendants' conduct artificially inflated wholesale prices paid by direct milk purchasers. In March 2012, the district court granted summary judgment in favor of defendants, including the Company, as to all counts then remaining. Plaintiffs appealed the district court's decision, and in January 2014, the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit reversed the grant of summary judgment as to one of the five original counts in the Tennessee retailer action. Following the Sixth Circuit's denial of our request to reconsider the case en banc, the Company petitioned the Supreme Court of the United States for review. On November 17, 2014, the Supreme Court denied our petition and the case returned to the district court. On January 19, 2016, the district court granted summary judgment to defendants on claims accruing after May 8, 2009. On January 25, 2016, the district court denied summary judgment in other respects and denied plaintiffs' motion for class certification. On February 8, 2016, plaintiffs filed a petition for permission to appeal the district court's order denying class certification. That petition was denied on June 14, 2016. On March 30, 2016, the district court issued an order holding that the case will be judged under an antitrust legal doctrine known as the rule of reason. The case is presently scheduled for trial on March 28, 2017. At this time, it is not possible for us to predict the outcome of the matter.

On June 29, 2009, another putative class action lawsuit was filed in the Eastern District of Tennessee on behalf of indirect purchasers of processed fluid Grade A milk (the "indirect purchaser action"). This case was voluntarily dismissed, and the same plaintiffs filed a nearly identical complaint on January 17, 2013. The allegations in this complaint were similar to those in both the retailer action and the 2009 indirect purchaser action, but involved only claims arising under Tennessee law. The Company filed a motion to dismiss, and on September 11, 2014, the district court granted in part and denied in part that motion, dismissing the non-Tennessee plaintiffs' claims. The Company filed its answer to the surviving claims on October 15, 2014. On March 16, 2016, the court granted a joint motion to stay the indirect purchaser action pending the Sixth Circuit's decision on the pending class certification review petition in the retailer action. On July 11, 2016, the parties stipulated to the dismissal of the indirect purchaser action; the stipulation does not address whether the right of plaintiffs to file a new complaint has been waived or lost. At this time, it is not possible for us to predict the outcome of this matter.

In addition to the pending legal proceedings set forth above, we are party from time to time to certain claims, litigations, audits and investigations. Potential liabilities associated with these other matters are not expected to have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes in the Company's risk factors from those set forth in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K, except as follows:

The loss of, or a material reduction in sales volumes purchased by, any of our largest customers could negatively impact our sales and profits.

Walmart and its subsidiaries, including Sam's Club, accounted for approximately 16% of our consolidated net sales in 2015, and our top five customers, including Walmart, collectively accounted for approximately 29% of our consolidated net sales in 2015. In addition, we are indirectly exposed to the financial and business risks of our significant customers because, as their dairy products business declines, they may correspondingly decrease the volumes purchased from us. In March 2016, Walmart announced that it plans to build a dairy processing plant in Indiana to supply certain Walmart and Sam's Club stores located in the Midwest. We currently estimate that the impact of this processing plant may result in our loss of sales of approximately 100 million gallons annually of very low-margin private-label fluid milk volume. However, we do not expect this announcement to materially affect our private-label fluid milk volumes in 2017. The loss of, or further declines in sales volumes purchased by, any of our largest customers could negatively impact our sales and profits, particularly due to our significant fixed costs and

assets, which are difficult to rapidly reduce in response to significant volume declines.

Table of Contents

Item 6. Exhibits

- 10.1 Letter Agreement, dated July 3, 2016, between Dean Foods Company and Russell F. Coleman (filed herewith).
- 10.2 Letter Agreement, dated August 31, 2016, between Dean Foods Company and Gregg A. Tanner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 1, 2016).
- 10.3 Letter Agreement, dated August 31, 2016, between Dean Foods Company and Ralph Scozzafava (filed herewith).
- Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).
- 31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).
- 32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).
- 32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).
- 99 Supplemental Financial Information for Dean Holding Company (filed herewith).
- 101.INS XBRL Instance Document(1).
- 101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document(1).
- 101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document(1).
- 101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document(1).
- 101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document(1).
- 101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document(1).
- (1) Filed electronically herewith.

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirement of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

DEAN FOODS COMPANY

/S/ SCOTT K. VOPNI

Scott K. Vopni Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Accounting Officer November 7, 2016

Table of Contents

Exhibit Index

- 10.1 Letter Agreement, dated July 3, 2016, between Dean Foods Company and Russell F. Coleman (filed herewith).
- 10.2 Letter Agreement, dated August 31, 2016, between Dean Foods Company and Gregg A. Tanner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 1, 2016).
- 10.3 Letter Agreement, dated August 31, 2016, between Dean Foods Company and Ralph Scozzafava (filed herewith).
- Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).
- 31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).
- 32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).
- Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).
- 99 Supplemental Financial Information for Dean Holding Company (filed herewith).
- 101.INS XBRL Instance Document(1).
- 101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document(1).
- 101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document(1).
- 101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document(1).
- 101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document(1).
- 101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document(1).
- (1) Filed electronically herewith.